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Chairman’s Statement

ERFRE

Financial Results and Business Review

| would like to report the audited results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2020. During the year, the Group recorded a profit from operations
before valuation changes in investment properties of HK$482.0 million
(2019: HK$504.4 million) and a loss attributable to equity shareholders of
HK$460.1 million (2019: a profit of HK$73.7 million). The loss was mainly due
to the net valuation losses on investment properties of HK$1,314.1 million
(2019: HK$270.5 million) which outweigh the profit from operations. The
valuation losses will only affect the accounting profit or loss but not the cash
flows of the Group. Details of the financial results and business performance

and development are set out in the Directors’ Report on pages 56 to 73.

Dividends

The Board is pleased to recommend a final dividend of HK$0.10 per share
for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$0.22 per share). As the
Company paid an interim dividend of HK$0.21 per share during the year
(2019: HK$0.22 per share), the total distribution will be HK$0.31 per share
for the year (2019: HK$0.44 per share).

Annual General Meeting
The annual general meeting of members of the Company will be held on

Thursday, 10 September 2020.

Acknowledgement
Finally, on behalf of the Board, | wish to thank all our staff for their devotion
and dedication, and would like to thank our professional advisors and our

members for their support in the past year.

Cheong Hooi Hong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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Properties

MRBE

iISQUARE

iISQUARE is located in the heart of Tsim Sha Tsui at the intersection of
Nathan Road and Peking Road. It is the first one-stop shopping and
entertainment complex linked to Tsim Sha Tsui MTR station. This complex
provides 56,000 square metres of space comprising a shopping podium,

cinema box and tower.

The podium is a vibrant hub for world-class fashion and lifestyle brands,
complemented by five grand cineplexes, including a 458-seat digital IMAX
theatre. ISQUARE also features fine-dining restaurants and lifestyle services

in its iconic tower.

Goodluck Industrial Centre

Four floors of Goodluck Industrial Centre belong to the Company. There are
automobile showrooms, vehicle workshops, carparking spaces and a petrol-

filling station. The centre is located in Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon.
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Corporate Governance Report

EEERWRE

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company recognises responsibilities to its shareholders and is therefore
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance. To
accomplish this, the Company has reviewed its practices and procedure,

and identified and formalised appropriate measures and policies.

Throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Company complied
with all the code provisions, where applicable, set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing

Rules”), except for the deviations as disclosed hereunder:

Code Provision A.1.8: Appropriate insurance cover

in respect of legal action against directors should be
arranged

Currently, the Company does not have insurance cover for legal action
against its Directors. The Board believes that with the current risk
management and internal control systems and the close supervision of the
management, the Directors’ risk of being sued or getting involved in litigation
in their capacity as Directors is relatively low. Benefits to be derived from
taking out insurance may not outweigh the cost. Despite it, every Director is,
subject to the provisions of the applicable laws, indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities
he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto pursuant to the Articles of Association of the
Company. In view of the above, the Board considers that the Directors’

exposure to risk is manageable.
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Corporate Governance Report 2 ERRE

Corporate Governance Practices (continued)

Code Provision A.2.1: The roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separated and performed by two
individuals

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong is both the Chairman and chief executive of the
Company. To avoid concentration of power and authority in any one
individual, day-to-day management of the Company’s business is shared by
Executive Directors whilst formulation of objectives and strategic decisions
are collectively made by the Board. In addition, the Board comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) with differing expertise/
calibre who can provide a “check and balance” effect on the management
through their high attendance at board meetings and therefore ensuring
a balance of power. Given consideration to the aforesaid, the Board of
Directors is of the view that the current structure does not have any adverse
effect on the Company and believes that this structure enables the Group to

make and implement decisions promptly and efficiently.

Code Provision A.6.7: INEDs and other non-executive
directors should give the board and any committees
on which they serve the benefit of their skills,
expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications
through regular attendance and active participation,
and should generally attend general meetings to gain
and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders

Except for the then Non-executive Director of the Company who was unable
to attend the Company’s meetings due to health reason during his tenure,
all INEDs of the Company had full attendance at all the Company’s meetings

held during the year under review.
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Corporate Governance Report 28R ME

Corporate Governance Practices (continued)

Code Provision B.1.5: Remuneration details of senior
management should be disclosed by band in annual
reports

The remuneration details of the senior management are not disclosed by
band in the annual report. To ensure they are remunerated at a reasonable
but not excessive rate, none of them is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration or related to the remuneration committee members (who
are authorised to collectively determine the remuneration of the senior
management based on a number of factors set out in the Company’s
remuneration policy). The Directors consider that the non-disclosure does
not pose any negative impact on the Company. On the contrary, the
disclosure of the remuneration details of the senior management may cause
undue comparison among staff members, and would unnecessarily provide
highly sensitive and confidential information to competitors and other third
parties looking to recruit the senior management. In light of the above,
the Directors are of the view that the disclosure of such information would
neither provide pertinent information in furtherance of corporate governance,

nor be in the interests of the members of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report 2 ERRE

Corporate Governance Practices (continued)

Code Provision C.2.5: Issuer should have an internal
audit function and review the need for one in case of
its absence annually

At present, the Company does not have an internal audit function. The Board
reviewed the need for setting up an internal audit function in March 2020
and considered that there was no such an immediate need after taking into
account the Group’s current circumstances, such as the focused nature and
geographical spread of business, the relatively simple operating structure
and small size of the Group and the close involvement and supervision
of the management in daily operation, which could provide sufficient risk
management and internal control for the Group. Despite it, the Board has
taken initiatives to promote the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems by creating a control environment
across the Group (such as building up a corporate culture based on
sound business ethics and accountability through the implementation of
“whistle-blowing” arrangements and procedure manuals with defined roles,
responsibilities and reporting lines) and putting control activities in place (such
as conducting group-wide risk assessment exercise regularly). In addition,
where the external auditor of the Company considers any internal controls
that are relevant to the audit of the financial statements, it will report to the
audit committee any significant deficiencies in internal control identified

during the audit.

In view of the above considerations and the potential cost to be involved, the
Board is of the opinion that it is not cost effective to set up and maintain an
internal audit function and that the existing control mechanism could justify
its absence for the time being. Nonetheless, the Board will review the need

for an internal audit function on an annual basis.
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Corporate Governance Report 28R ME

Corporate Governance Practices (continued)

Code Provision F.1.3: The company secretary

should report to the board chairman and/or the chief
executive

Instead of reporting to the Chairman (who is also the chief executive of the
Company), the company secretary reports directly to the Deputy Chairman.
Since the company secretary is located in the same office as the Deputy
Chairman and they work closely on a day-to-day basis, direct reporting
to the Deputy Chairman can provide for a prompt and timely response to
issues which require immediate attention. On the other hand, the Chairman
keeps having ongoing discussion and dialogue with the Deputy Chairman
on business affairs, in particular corporate governance and financial issues,
which enables him to fully understand the operation of the Company and
manage it in an effective manner. Taking into account of the above, the

Board considers that the current reporting line is apposite to the Company.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its code for dealing in securities in the Company by its Directors (“Model
Code”). Specific enquiry has been made to all Directors of the Company
as to whether they have complied with or whether there has been any
non-compliance with the Model Code, and the Directors have confirmed
compliance with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the

financial year ended 31 March 2020.
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Corporate Governance Report 2 ERRE

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors during the financial year ended 31 March 2020
comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (Chairman)

Mr Cheong Kheng Lim (Deputy Chairman)
Mr Cheong Keng Hooi

Mr Cheong Sim Lam

Miss Cheong Chong Ling

Non-executive Director
Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles (vacated from office with effect from 26 June 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul

Mr Wong Yiu Tak

Mr Tse Pang Yuen

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (who is both the Chairman and chief executive
of the Company), Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, Mr Cheong Keng Hooi and
Mr Cheong Sim Lam are brothers. Miss Cheong Chong Ling is the daughter
of Mr Cheong Kheng Lim and the niece of Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong,
Cheong Keng Hooi and Cheong Sim Lam. Some of the Directors who are

members of the Cheong family together own businesses outside the Group.

Under the corporate governance structure, the Board of Directors is as
a whole accountable to the shareholders of the Company in respect of
the Group’s performance. The Board of Directors is responsible for the
leadership and control of the Group, which include formulation of objectives,
overall strategies and business plans; and overseeing the financial and
management performance, corporate governance, risk management and
internal control systems of the Group.

With the objective of focusing more attentively on specific areas, the Board
has established three committees, namely the remuneration committee,
the nomination committee and the audit committee. INEDs are invited to
serve on these Board committees given the benefits they can bring to the
Company. To assist the committees in discharging their roles adequately,
each committee is provided with a committee policy, setting out guidelines
for its members to follow in the process of decision-making. Duties and
authorities of these committees are also set out in their respective terms
of reference. To keep the Board fully informed of their works and findings,

these committees are required to report to the Board on a regular basis.
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Corporate Governance Report 28R ME

Board of Directors (continued)

For the purpose of efficient operation, the Board relies on the management
for the day-to-day operation of the Group’s business. The management has
to implement the objectives, strategies and plans adopted by the Board
and report to the Board regularly. The Board monitors the work of the
management whilst the management provides an indispensable support to
the operation of the Board and the Group’s development. Given the close
collaboration between the Board and the management, the duties, power
and functions of the Board and the management are clearly laid down and

defined in writing.

Delegating its functions and authorities to the Board committees and the
management does not absolve the Board from its overall responsibility for
the governance of the Group. The Board at all times assumes the ultimate

responsibility for the Group’s management and operation.

The Directors of the Company are responsible for preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for each financial period which give a true
and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Group.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 March 2020 on a going concern basis, the Directors
have adopted suitable accounting policies and, other than the changes in
accounting policies which are first effective for the year under review as
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, applied them consistently
with those applied to the financial statements of the previous financial
year. The Directors have also made judgements and estimates which are

reasonable.

The Directors of the Company are accountable for keeping proper records
which reflect with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of
the Group. The statement of the Auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the

Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 77 to 83.
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Corporate Governance Report 2 ERRE

Board of Directors (continued)

A

Six board meetings, of which four were regular board meetings, and one NEE-_E-_TF=-A=+—HUIMHEER -
general meeting were held during the financial year ended 31 March 2020. KABREBREASNAES (A mR e
Individual attendance of the Directors at board meetings, board committee FZIR—RERERARE  c REENAFELFEES
meetings and annual general meeting in the year under review is set out o% EFTRETZEgeRMBEREAFRAEZ
below: FOERAAT -
Meetings attended/eligible to attend
LREERY FEREESERY
Remuneration Nomination Audit Annual General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Bzg FHzEg REZEE BNZEEE RREFAE
Covering
corporate
governance- Covering
Directors related matters ~ other matters Total
PREEER
3 HEZSE YREMSE a2y
Executive Directors
HITEZE
*  Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (Chairman) 2/2 4/4 6/6 NA 2/2 NA 11
BREEE(LE) TER TER
e Mr Cheong Kheng Lim (Deputy Chairman) 212 4/4 6/6 NA 2/2 NA 11
BEWEE(FFE) TER TER
¢ MrCheong Keng Hooi 212 4/4 6/6 NA NA NA 1/1
BmELE TER iR TEA
o MrCheong Sim Lam 212 4/4 6/6 NA NA NA 11
BEEEE TER iR TER
e Miss Cheong Chong Ling 212 4/4 6/6 NA NA NA 1/1
5/ TR ek TER
Non-executive Director
FHTEE
¢ MrSin Cho Chiu, Charles” 0/0 0/1 0/1 0/1 NA 0/1 NA
amEs NaA ER
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYHHTEE
o Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul 212 4/4 6/6 3/3 2/2 4/4 11
AESEE
o MrWong Yiu Tak 2/2 4/4 6/6 33 2/2 4/4 11
BRELE
e MrTse Pang Yuen 212 4/4 6/6 3/3 212 4/4 1/1
A TRE
Total number of meetings 2 4 6 3 2 4 1
EE
" Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles was vacated from his office as a Director of the " AARRZE—NFRNAZHNAEUHAEREER

Company on 26 June 2019. During his tenure, only one board meeting and one
meeting in respect of each of the remuneration committee and audit committee

Mr Sin was eligible to attend.
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Corporate Governance Report 28R ME

Board of Directors (continued)

To enable the Directors to maintain the necessary knowledge and skills
to perform their roles, the Company places an emphasis on Directors’
training. During the year under review, all Directors were furnished with
quarterly memoranda/circulars so as to regularly refresh their knowledge
relating to Directors’ duties and legal and regulatory obligations. To keep
the Directors abreast of the latest developments regarding regulatory and
legal requirements, the company secretary also provided updates directly
or through other professionals to the Board as and when necessary. During
the financial year ended 31 March 2020, not only did the Company organise
in-house training courses in relation to corporate governance and Directors’
roles, duties and responsibilities for its Directors, it also provided them with
“Director E-training” concerning environmental, social and governance
requirements/reporting as composed by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. For the purpose of ensuring adequacy of training received by the
Directors, the Board conducted a review thereon. Other than the foregoing,
the Directors are encouraged to attend relevant external training sessions,
seminars, forums and conferences on their own with all related expenses

reimbursable by the Company, subject to the Company’s policy.
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Corporate Governance Report 2 ERRE

Board of Directors (continued) EE=2 @)
Training received by the Directors during the financial year ended 31 March REZ2-ZE-FF=-_A=+—HIPTHRFE - &
2020 is set out below: BRI ZREET
Receiving
briefings
Attending from company
courses/ secretary/
seminars/ Reading other executives/
conferences materials professionals
INCIEC
HERE HttTHAR/
e/ HEAL
Directors = BEE= AL L LE:
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (Chairman) BRI E(EE) Vv Vv
Mr Cheong Kheng Lim (Deputy Chairman) 4835 4 (512 /) Vv Vv
Mr Cheong Keng Hooi EEEL Vv Vv
Mr Cheong Sim Lam el Vv v
Miss Cheong Chong Ling BRI A Vv Vv
Non-executive Director HHTEE
Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles (vacated from FEBEE(BEZE—NEF
office with effect from 26 June 2019) NAZTNBEER)
Independent Non-executive Directors BV HEHTEE
Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul AERLE v
Mr Wong Yiu Tak BREEE
Mr Tse Pang Yuen Bl e
Note: The training mentioned herein is relevant to (1) corporate governance, o EUREAMSEIEENOGEER  QFEFAR  BE
(2) Directors’ roles, duties and responsibilities, and (3) rules and regulations. MEE - RQ@)EHIEERIGRE -
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Non-executive Director and

Independent Non-executive Directors

The term of appointment of the only Non-executive Director was one year
(though he was vacated from office on 26 June 2019) whilst INEDs are
appointed for the period commencing from the conclusion of one annual
general meeting to the conclusion of the following annual general meeting.
According to the Company’s Articles of Association, they are required to
retire by rotation, but remain eligible for re-election, at least once every three

years.

The Company has received confirmation from each INED about his
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers
each of them to be independent. One of the INEDs possesses appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management

expertise as required under the Listing Rules.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the audit committee, each
with its written terms of reference. Each committee is required to report
back to the Board and keep the Board fully informed of its decisions and
recommendations unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions on its

ability to do so.

Remuneration committee

The primary objective of the Group’s remuneration policy is to retain
Directors and senior management of suitable calibre by remunerating them
at a competitive level. In order to achieve this, the Board has established
a remuneration committee. Under the Group’s remuneration policy, no
Director or his/her associates are allowed to be involved in decisions relating

to his/her own remuneration.
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Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration committee (Continued)

The remuneration committee currently comprises three INEDs. They are
Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul (committee chairman), Mr Wong Yiu Tak and
Mr Tse Pang Yuen. The main duties of the remuneration committee are to
review and make recommendations to the Board on the terms of reference
of the committee; to assist the Company in formulating remuneration
policy and structure for Directors and senior management; to review
and approve the management’s remuneration proposals; to determine,
with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual
Executive Directors and senior management; to make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration of the INEDs; to consider salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group; to review and approve
compensation payable to Executive Directors and senior management for
any loss or termination of office or appointment; and to review and approve
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors
for misconduct. Details of the remuneration committee’s authority and
duties are set out in the terms of reference. The said terms of reference are
published on the websites of the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and

Clearing Limited (“HKEX").

Remuneration of individual Executive Directors and senior management is
determined, with delegated responsibility, by the remuneration committee
on the recommendations of the chief executive (except Mr Cheong Hooi
Hong whose remuneration package is determined by the remuneration
committee alone) on an annual basis. The remuneration committee
also makes recommendations to the Board on the review of INEDs’
remuneration annually. For all other staff, it is the Executive Directors who
fix their remuneration packages on the recommendations of their respective

department heads on an annual basis.

The amount of remuneration payable to the Directors is determined by
reference to a number of factors, including remuneration paid by comparable
companies, the Group’s results as well as the work-load, responsibility and
time commitment of the Directors. When determining the remuneration
packages of senior management and all other staff, the remuneration
committee and Executive Directors, as the case may be, take(s) into
consideration the factors including market conditions, the Group’s results,

individual performance, job nature and duties.
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Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration committee (Continued)

Other than the retirement scheme as set out in note 25 to the financial
statements on page 147, the Group does not have any long-term incentive

scheme.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the remuneration committee
held three meetings and reviewed and made recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and the terms of reference
of the committee; considered and fixed the remuneration packages of
Executive Directors and senior management; and made recommendations
to the Board on both the remuneration of the INEDs and payment to
the Non-executive Director on his vacation of office as a Director of the
Company. The attendance record of each remuneration committee member is

set out in the table on page 12.

Nomination committee

The nomination committee currently comprises two Executive Directors
and three INEDs. They are Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (committee chairman),
Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul, Mr Wong Yiu Tak and
Mr Tse Pang Yuen.

The main duties of the nomination committee are to review and provide
recommendations to the Board on the nomination policy, terms of reference
of the committee and the Board diversity policy; to review the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; to assess the
independence of INEDs; to assess the mix in terms of gender, age and
qualifications required on the Board; to identify individuals suitably qualified
to become Board members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; and to
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman
and the chief executive, and on the need of setting measurable objectives
for implementing the Board diversity policy. Details of the nhomination
committee’s authority and duties are set out in the terms of reference. The
said terms of reference are published on the websites of the Company and

the HKEX.
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Board Committees (continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the nomination committee
held two meetings and reviewed and made recommendations to the Board
on the nomination policy, the terms of reference of the committee, the Board
diversity policy, the need of setting measurable objectives for implementing
the Board diversity policy and the necessary mix required on the Board;
put forward recommendations to the Board on the structure, size and
composition of the Board; assessed the independence of the INEDs; and
made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointments of the INEDs

and Directors who were subject to retirement by rotation.

To ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company, a nomination policy
which delineates the procedures and criteria for nomination of Directors has
been laid down. Under the policy, all Directors, including those appointed
for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. Any
Directors appointed by the Board as an addition to the Board shall retire
at the next annual general meeting whilst those appointed to fill casual
vacancies shall retire at the next general meeting (instead of the next annual
general meeting) and Directors so appointed are eligible for re-election. The

appointment term of the Directors is determined by the Board.

Before making recommendations to the Board on appointment or
re-appointment of a Director, the nomination committee shall, after having
considered the present and future needs of the Company and the new
challenges/risks it may encounter, determine the necessary attributes/
competencies required for the Director. In considering the suitability of
an individual to become a Director or a Director to be re-appointed, the
nomination committee shall consider whether the person concerned
possesses the specific qualities required by the Company, his/her
personal profile and whether he/she meets the basic criteria as required
under applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong, such as being able
to demonstrate a standard of competence and having the character,
experience and integrity commensurate with his/her position as a Director.
For the appointment/re-appointment of an INED, the nomination committee
shall also take into account the independence guidelines laid down in the

Listing Rules.
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Board Committees (continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

To ensure there is a balanced composition of the Board, the nomination
committee needs to consider not only one’s attributes/competencies, but
also his/her value to the Company. Board diversity is a key consideration
in Board selection process which the nomination committee shall give
consideration to. For the Company, it is more than an issue of gender, it also
focuses on age and professional experience. Selection of female candidates
or candidates of a particular age group or qualifications to join the Board is,
in part, dependent on the pool of candidates possessing necessary skills,
knowledge and experience. Board appointment is mainly based on merit and
contribution likely brought by the chosen candidates. The Company believes
that, with the benefits of diversity, it can have a better understanding to
the needs and expectations of its stakeholders, in particular shoppers and

tenants.

To reflect the above, the Company has adopted a Board diversity policy, in
which the nomination committee is required to assess the mix in terms of
gender, age and qualifications required on the Board; and to recommend to
the Board any matters in relation to Board diversity or implementation of the

policy.

Although the Board supports the principle of diversity, it currently does not
intend to fix a diversity quota for Board appointment or set a short term
objective on gender diversity, for such policies may compromise on the

calibre of Directors.

As regards nomination procedures, the relevant details are set out
in the nomination policy, which requires the Board (i) on receipt of
recommendations from the nomination committee forms an opinion as to
whether one shall be appointed/re-appointed with particular regards paid
to the matters stipulated in Code Provision A.5.5 of the CG Code and
(i) publishes an announcement as per the Listing Rules after the same
has been approved. If the appointment/re-appointment is subject to
shareholders’ approval, disclosure as required under the Listing Rules has to
be made accordingly. The attendance record of each nomination committee

member is set out in the table on page 12.
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Board Committees (continued)

Audit committee

The primary responsibilities of the audit committee of the Company are
to make recommendations to the Board on appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor; to approve remuneration, terms of
engagement and handle all issues relating to resignation or dismissal in
respect of the external auditor; to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of its audit process; to
discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of audit and reporting
obligations before commencement of audit; to develop and implement
policy on engagement of the external auditor to supply non-audit services;
to oversee financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems; to review financial information of the Group; to review
arrangements employees of the Company can use in confidence to raise
concerns about possible improprieties and ensure proper arrangements are
in place for fair and independent investigation and for follow-up action; to act
as the key representative body for overseeing the Company’s relations with
the external auditor; and to review and make recommendations to the Board
on the terms of reference of the committee. Details of the audit committee’s
authority and duties are set out in the terms of reference. The said terms of

reference are published on the websites of the Company and the HKEXx.

The audit committee currently comprises three INEDs. They are Mr Chow
Wan Hoi, Paul (committee chairman), Mr Wong Yiu Tak and Mr Tse

Pang Yuen.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the audit committee met
four times and made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the external auditor; considered and approved the terms of engagement
of the external auditor for provision of audit services and interim review
services; reviewed the half-year and annual financial statements of the
Group, including integrity and significant financial reporting judgements
contained therein, before submission to the Board for approval; discussed
with the external auditor the nature and scope of the audit and determined
the scope and extent of the interim review before commencement; met the
external auditor without the presence of executive board members of the
Company; and considered and made recommendations to the Board on the
arrangements for employees to raise concerns about improprieties, the audit
policy, the terms of reference of the committee and the risk management

policy.
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Board Committees (continued)

Audit committee (Continued)

The audit committee during the year under review also reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
by monitoring the risk change during the year, assessing the adequacy of
the mitigating strategies used and the impact of the identified risks on the
Group. It also evaluated the need of setting up an internal audit function by
considering the current internal control mechanism and the pros and cons of
doing so. The attendance record of each audit committee member is set out

in the table on page 12.

Corporate governance functions

Given the importance of good corporate governance to the success of
the Company, the Board is directly responsible for performing corporate
governance duties. The duties set out in the Code Provision D.3.1 of the CG

Code are included in its terms of reference.

Among the six board meetings held during the financial year ended
31 March 2020, two of the meetings covered issues relating to corporate
governance. At the meetings, the Board reviewed and modified the general
code of conduct for employees and Directors; monitored the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;
and reviewed corporate governance policies and practices including
those relating to compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report. Individual attendance of the Directors at the said two

board meetings is set out in the table on page 12.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Auditor of the Company,
KPMG, provided audit services of a value of approximately HK$1,321,000
to the Group. KPMG also provided non-audit services of a value of
approximately HK$578,000 to the Group, which included HK$204,000 and
HK$374,000 being charges for tax services and review of the interim results

of the Group respectively.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
Responsibility
The Board has an overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and

internal control systems.

To this end, the Board, assisted by the audit committee, oversees the
foregoing systems on an ongoing basis by evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks (including the environmental, social
and governance-related risks) it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives, maintaining appropriate and effective risk management

and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.

Although the said systems are complemented by relevant procedure and
measures for the purpose of safeguarding the interests of the Group and its
shareholders as a whole, they are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or

loss.

Key features and process

As risk management is the responsibility of everyone within the Group
and something more than a formality, it is integrated into the day-to-day
operation and carried out at all levels under the stewardship of the Board.
In order to create a control environment across the Group to support the
risk management and internal control systems, the Company is committed
to building up a corporate culture based on business ethics, control
responsibility and risk awareness. To accomplish this, the Company has
adopted a general code of conduct to govern the integrity and ethical
behaviour of employees in business practices. Procedure manuals
delineating reporting lines and areas of responsibility of each department/
operating unit are laid down and are under review from time to time. In
addition, arrangements for employees to raise concerns, in confidence,
about possible improprieties in any matters in relation to the Group or any
non-compliance with the Company’s policies are in place. All policies,
procedure and guidelines with defined limits of delegated authority are put in

writing so as to enhance effective segregation of duties and controls.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Key features and process (Continued)

On top of fostering a risk management culture, the Board adopts a bottom-
up approach to identify the Group’s operational risks. Instead of setting
up a separate department charged with the risk-related issues, it gets
all departments/operating units involved. Under the current systems, all
department/unit heads are required to establish risk factors specific to their
responsible areas, determine impact as well as likelihood of identified risks
in accordance with the risk appetite set by the Board and develop mitigating
strategies. They shall maintain a risk register containing the said information
and update it on a regular basis. In order to provide the Board and the audit
committee with an overview of the Group’s operational risks and how they
are managed, the management scrutinises, filters, amends and compiles
relevant information, together with findings of the strategic risk identification
performed by the Executive Directors on behalf of the Board, as a composite
risk report to the Board/the audit committee for review and endorsement
every 6 months unless the circumstances are exceptional which require
immediate attention for discussion. The external auditor also has access to
the risk registers and composite risk reports. During the financial year ended
31 March 2020, such risk assessment exercise was done on a half-yearly

basis.

In the absence of an internal audit function (reasons for its absence are set
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Practices” on pages 5 to 9),
the Board has appointed a qualified accountant, who is also the accounting
manager of the Group, to carry out sample testing on procedure compliance
and risk-related issues in respect of all departments/operating units. Test
results and findings are reported to the audit committee on an annual basis.
Heads of the departments/operating units which may have a significant
financial implication on the Group’s revenue are required to make an annual
representation to the audit committee confirming that all potential risks in
relation to their scope of work are properly dealt with. The management will
then review the situation and provide the Board/the audit committee with an
annual confirmation on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal

control systems.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Key features and process (Continued)

Being part of the internal control process, the Group has maintained a
comprehensive accounting system for ensuring complete and accurate
financial information. Annual budgets as regards rental income and operating
expenses of iISQUARE, the Group’s main source of revenue, are prepared
for effective allocation and utilisation of resources. As regards outgoings,
the Group has established procedure for approval and control of operating
expenditures whilst the capital ones are subject to management approval
prior to commitment. Other control measures, including provision of monthly
management accounts to Directors and preparation of variance analyses,

help identify deficiencies and enable timely remedial actions to be taken.

Handling of inside information

Concerning inside information, the Company has implemented various
policies to govern how it shall be handled. Policy on disclosure of inside
information sets out the manner in which inside information is escalated
and disseminated whereas the risk management policy provides ways to
deal with risks which may constitute inside information. Besides, the general
code of conduct adopted by the Group prohibits inappropriate use of
confidential or inside information. All employees are required to undertake
their adherence to the said code and report any non-compliance with it to

the management.

For the purpose of complying with the applicable laws and regulations in
relation to inside information, the Company has adopted the Model Code as
its own code. Relevant procedure for guarding against mishandling of inside
information includes pre-clearance on dealing in the Company’s securities
by designated Directors and notification of black-out period to Directors. In
order to remind Directors and employees of their obligations in securities

transaction, they are provided with memoranda on a quarterly basis.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)

Review of effectiveness

Although the management is charged with the responsibility to design,
implement and monitor the risk management and internal control systems,
the Board and the audit committee oversee the process. In March 2020,
the Board, with the confirmation from the management certifying that the
aforesaid systems were functioning effectively and the assistance of the
audit committee, conducted a review on the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems for the financial year ended
31 March 2020. Such review covered all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls. Based on the review result, the Board
considered that the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal control and
financial reporting functions were adequate and that the risk management
and internal control systems were effective and apposite to the Group
though no in-house or outsourced internal audit function has been set up as
required by the CG Code. The Board is not aware of any significant areas of
concern which should be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the

Company.

Principal risks and uncertainties

As with any business, the Group faces risks and uncertainties on a daily
basis. In determining the principal risks posed to the Group, the Board takes
into account the overall severity level (based on the impact and likelihood
matrix) of the risks set out in the composite risk reports and their changes
during the financial year. It also examines their nature and impact on the
Group and evaluates the effectiveness and suitability of the mitigating
strategies as applied by taking into consideration the actual operation and

performance of the Group.

From the Group’s overall perspective, the following are identified as principal
risks currently encountered by the Group. That said, they are by no means
exhaustive or comprehensive. There may be other risks which may not
be material now but could turn out to be such in the future. Although the
principal risks may not change significantly from year to year, their magnitude

and importance to the Group can and do vary.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Risk pertaining to
LT ER
BEGER

Risk change
during the year
under review

REEEBNE(L

Description

i

[&
FERMERTAHAREZ @)

LA
oo
A

EERAEPELEE @)

Key controls and mitigations

TEERRERERHE

Leasing

i

Despite the modest economic growth in the first half of
2019, downward pressure on rental level and increase
in vacancies at iISQUARE persisted given the increase in
new supply of retail premises in Tsim Sha Tsui area and
the growing popularity of online shopping. Escalation of
domestic social incidents in the second half of 2019 had
not only dampened local consumer sentiments, but also
brought about a severe setback in inbound tourism, which
conjointly dealt a heavy blow to Hong Kong retail market
and food and beverage industry. Business of iISQUARE
tenants was inevitably seriously disrupted. Coupled with
the outbreak of novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) and its
swift spreading across the world, together with a series
of measures adopted by different countries to contain the
virus, such as travel restrictions, city lockdown and border
closure, there was a plunge in worldwide travel and tourism
industries which in turn took a heavy toll on retail and
catering business. The pandemic scare has turned a grim
local outlook to a worldwide one. With the ever-growing
difficulties encountered by ISQUARE tenants, increased
downward pressure on rental level and further drop in
occupancy rate have become unavoidable.

In view of the prevailing situation, in particular the high
uncertainty on the threat posed by COVID-19 and the
development of domestic social incidents, business outlook
of tenants remains tough and risk of tenants default may

pile up.
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To offer short-term relief to tenants so as to alleviate
their business pressure whereby a sustainable
business partnership can be maintained

To focus marketing efforts on drawing more people to
and encouraging consumption at iSQUARE

To conduct direct engagement with tenants and
closely monitor their financial performance and
payment record

To adopt a more proactive approach on managing
tenancy expiries and vacancies
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Risk pertaining to
LT ER
BENER

Risk change
during the year
under review

FEERRNE(L

Description
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Key controls and mitigations

TEERRARERYR

Qutbreak of
contagious
diseases

BRmIESE

f

2

The fast spreading of COVID-19 has shaken the world
economy with hardest hit on travel and tourism industries.
Since visitors’ shopping expenditure features prominently
in Hong Kong retail sales, the drastic drop in visitor
arrivals together with the Hong Kong government’s
advice on social distancing has given iISQUARE, as with
other shopping malls generally, a hard time. The negative
impact on the Group is significant given iISQUARE is the
Group’s main business operation. Worse still, COVID-19
is a novel virus with no vaccine or drugs available for the
moment, its development has become unpredictable. Such
precariousness has further upset not only Hong Kong but
also world market prospects and dampened consumer
sentiments. The unabated difficult operating environment
will inevitably render an increase in risk exposure of the
Group.
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To stay alert to the latest development in relation
to COVID-19 so that swift adjustment to corporate

strategies and business activities can be made
To maintain a solid financial position with strong

cash flow and a low gearing level so as to cater for
unforeseen circumstances

ENRBABOIERRERRENRHER -
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

LB 3 % R BB EE
TEEAR &T\Eﬂﬁﬁl%(i

Risk change
during the year

Risk pertainingto  under review Description Key controls and mitigations

LT ER

BENER FEERBNSL  Hd TEERRARERUR

Economic and i As the Group’s operations are mainly based in Hong Kong, o To closely monitor the operating environment so as

political outlook any adverse change in local political and economic climate to enable prompt adjustment to corporate strategies

could disrupt its overall business. The domestic social and business activities
incidents clearly demonstrate the negative impact brought
onto the Group as they have not only deterred visitors o To ensure a solid financial position with strong
from coming to Hong Kong, but also undermined local cash flow and a low gearing level for coping with
consumer sentiments which in turn dealt a severe blow unexpected changes
to retail sales. The emergence of COVID-19 has on the
worldwide level created an unfavourable atmosphere which
changes the usual travelling and spending patterns of
tourists/shoppers and further stifles the Hong Kong already
subdued economic conditions. Given the high uncertainty
in the unfolding of the local social incidents and COVID-19,
risk level has mounted up and the Group’s business will
continue to be influenced.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Risk pertaining to
AT HE
BENER

Risk change
during the year
under review

REEEBNE(L

Description

i

R\ B TR e PO AR BE A2 )
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Key controls and mitigations

TEEERERERHE

Investment properties  {}

(Ps")

BERES

i

Pursuant to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the
Group's IPs are stated at fair values in the consolidated
statement of financial position whilst changes thereof are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Given the relatively heavy weighting of the IPs in the
Group’s property portfolio, any significant change in the
valuation of the IPs can seriously affect the Group's profit/
loss for the year. As one of the key drivers of the valuation
of the IPs is rental income which can be volatile and there
has been an ever-increasing downward pressure on rental
level and occupancy rate at ISQUARE during the year
under review as a result of the emergence of COVID-19
and a series of local social incidents, further valuation
losses are largely expected. Notwithstanding the valuation
change, fair value gains/losses will not affect the Group’s
cash flow.

Due to the current financial reporting requirements,
valuation changes have influenced and will continue to

influence the Group’s profit/loss.
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Ensuring stable revenue streams is a practicable way to
counter adverse impact caused by valuation losses during
economic downturns. Measures taken by the Group
include the following:

e To buid up a more diversified tenant mix with a view
to maintaining a sustainable tenant portfolio

o To launch creative and popular promotions so as
to increase exposure, thereby stimulate consumer

spending and add value to the IPs

o To stay alert to market changes and tenant needs for

maintaining competitiveness

o To preserve quality of the IPs by carrying out
maintenance and enhancement works
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

[ Bee B T K7 R P EE 4 ¢
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Risk change
during the year
Risk pertainingto ~ under review Description Key controls and mitigations
AT HE
BRHAER FEERRMEL FTEEERERERHR
Manpower =N Ongoing insufficient supply of experienced and skilled o To review salary and benefits of staff with the aim of
personnel, in particular front-line staff, has long been an recruiting and retaining people of right calibre
issue in property management industry. Together with the
structural changes in the workforce in Hong Kong, such o To provide staff with relevant training
situation continued during the year under review.

e Tomaintain a reliever pool for front-line and marketing
staff so as to provide a temporary relief of shortage of
manpower

e To strengthen communication with staff through
regular briefings and meetings

ANER & BERT AERREMNEI(RAENGETIRNE o REINHENGEAFELES BELENRE
ERFNANRR  BILEESPHAOERERE LHE ARETHMET
g NERNHERFERRERE «

o RETREEBNE

o RBNBREETHREZEINERLH U
CEFEATIRNERE

o RATHERNEENEESTHER

Notes: i
o Risk level increased o EBKFELEF

o Risk level remains broadly the same

In addition to monitoring the impact of the principal risks that the Group is
now facing by adjusting its corporate strategies and mitigating measures,
the management will keep observing if there is any emerging risk which may

affect the Group significantly on a regular basis.
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Shareholders’ Relations
To enhance its accountability and promote transparency, the Company is

committed to maintaining channels for communication with its shareholders.

Providing information

Corporate communications are prepared in both English and Chinese
versions and in plain language so as to make the documents understandable.
Such documents are despatched to shareholders and released to the public

domain in a timely manner.

Information released by the Company to the HKEXx is posted on the

Company’s website (http://ttll.etnet.com.hk/eng/ca_calendar.php) thereafter.

The Articles of Association of the Company which spell out shareholders’
rights can be found on the websites of the Company and the HKEx. During
the financial year ended 31 March 2020, there were no changes made to the

Articles of Association of the Company.

Encouraging participation/interaction

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for face-to-
face communication between shareholders and the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to participate in general meetings or appoint proxies
to attend, speak and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they are
unable to attend. Board members, in particular, the Chairman of the Board
and chairmen of the Board committees, or their delegates, appropriate
management staff and the Company’s external auditor normally attend

annual general meetings to answer shareholders’ questions.
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Shareholders’ Relations (continued)

Encouraging participation/interaction (continued)
Shareholders are also provided with means by which their enquiries can
be put forward to the Board. Such channels, including designated email

address (ttlicosec@tianteckgroup.com), correspondence address, fax

number and telephone number, are made available on the Company’s
website. Queries relating to shareholders’ own shareholdings should be
directed to the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Subject to applicable legislation and regulations, in particular the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association of
the Company as amended from time to time, shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”, and each a “Shareholder”) may convene general meetings
and put forward proposals at general meetings. The relevant procedure is

set out below:

To convene an Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)
o The Company holds a general meeting as its AGM every year. An

AGM is usually held in September.

° If the Company fails to hold an AGM (which is unlikely to occur) after
6 months have elapsed since the end of the Company’s financial year,
any Shareholder may apply to the court in Hong Kong which, on such

application, may call or direct the calling of an AGM of the Company.
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Shareholders’ Relations (continued)
Encouraging participation/interaction (Continued)
To move a resolution at an AGM

Shareholder(s) can make a request to circulate a resolution for an

AGM if they represent at least:

(@

2.5% of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders who
have a right to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which the

request relates; or

50 Shareholders who have a right to vote on the resolution at

the AGM to which the request relates.

The request must:

(@

be sent in hard copy form to the Deputy Chairman of the
Board at 9th Floor, iSQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,

Kowloon, Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company;

identify the proposed resolution;

be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned; and

be received by the Company not later than 6 weeks before the

AGM to which the request relates or if later, the time at which

notice of the AGM is despatched.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and

upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the

company secretary will request the Board to include the resolution

in the agenda for the AGM. On the contrary, if the request is verified

as not in order, the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this

outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution will not be included
in the agenda for the AGM.
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Shareholders’ Relations (continued)

Encouraging participation/interaction (Continued)
To convene a General Meeting (“GM”)

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of
all the Shareholders having a right to vote at GMs can request the
Directors to call a GM.

The request:

(@) must state the general nature of the business to be dealt with
at the meeting;

(b)  may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved
and is intended to be moved at the meeting;

(©) may consist of several documents in like form;

(d) must be sent in hard copy form to the Deputy Chairman of the
Board at 9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company;
and

(e) must be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and
upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
company secretary will request the Board to convene a GM by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements to all
the registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if the request is verified
as not in order, the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this

outcome and accordingly, a GM will not be convened as requested.

Directors must call a GM within 21 days after the date on which they
become subject to the requirement and the meeting so called must
be held on a date not more than 28 days after the date of the notice
convening the meeting.

If the Directors do not convene a GM as required, the Shareholder(s)
concerned or any of them representing more than one half of the total
voting rights of all of them may themselves call a GM, and the meeting
so convened must be called for a date not more than 3 months after
the date on which the Directors become subject to the requirement
to call a GM. The Company must reimburse any reasonable expenses
incurred by the Shareholder(s) requesting the GM by reason of the
failure of the Directors duly to call a GM.
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Shareholders’ Relations (continued)
Encouraging participation/interaction (Continued)

To propose a person other than a Director of the Company for

election as a Director at a GM, including an AGM

In accordance with its Articles of Association, the Company at the
meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated office by
electing a person thereto. If a Shareholder (other than the person
to be nominated as mentioned hereinafter), who is duly qualified
to attend and vote at the GM for which the notice of intention as
hereinafter described is to be given, wishes to propose a person other
than a retiring Director of the Company for election as a Director of
the Company at any GM, he/she should sign and deposit a notice of
intention to that effect at 9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company,
for the attention of the Board together with a notice signed by the
nominated person of his/her willingness to be elected. The minimum
length of period during which such notices are given shall be at least
7 days and the period for lodgement shall commence no earlier than
the day after despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such
election (inclusive of such day) and end no later than 7 days prior to

the date of such GM (“Lodgement Period”).

To enable the Company to inform Shareholders of the foregoing
proposal, the written notices as mentioned above shall be
accompanied by (i) the information of the nominated person as
required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and
(i) the written consent of the nominated person to the publication of

his/her personal data.

Relevant procedure and the Lodgement Period for each GM will
be set out in the corresponding circular to be despatched to the

Shareholders.

If the notice is received less than 15 clear days prior to the GM,
the Company will consider adjourning the GM in order to allow
Shareholders at least 14 clear days or 10 clear business days’ notice

of the proposal, whichever is the longer.
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Shareholders’ Relations (continued)
Encouraging participation/interaction (Continued)
Circulation of Statement at a GM, including an AGM

Eligible Shareholders can express their views on a matter mentioned
in a proposed resolution or other business to be dealt with at a GM
in a written statement of not more than 1,000 words and request the
Company to circulate it to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of a

GM. Eligible Shareholders must represent at least:

(@) 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having the

relevant right to vote; or

(b) 50 Shareholders having the relevant right to vote.

For a statement concerning a matter mentioned in a proposed

resolution, “the relevant right to vote” means a right to vote on that

resolution at the meeting to which the request relates. For a statement

concerning other business, “the relevant right to vote” means a right

to vote at the meeting to which the request relates.

The request must:

(@) be sent in hard copy form to the Deputy Chairman of the

Board at 9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,

Kowloon, Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company;

(b) identify the statement to be circulated;

(©) be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned; and

(d) be received by the Company at least 7 days before the meeting

to which it relates.
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Shareholders’ Relations (continued)
Encouraging participation/interaction (Continued)
Circulation of Statement at a GM, including an AGM (Continued)

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and
upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
Company will circulate the statement to Shareholders entitled to

receive notice of the meeting provided that:

(@) if the request relates to an AGM,

(i) the statement is received in time to enable the Company
to send a copy of the statement at the same time as the

notice of AGM is despatched; or

(ii) otherwise, the Shareholder(s) concerned have, not
later than 7 days before the AGM, deposited a sum
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
circulating the statement submitted by the Shareholder(s)

concerned.

(b) if the request relates to a GM other than an AGM, the
Shareholder(s) concerned have, not later than 7 days before
the GM, deposited a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in circulating the statement submitted by

the Shareholder(s) concerned.

On the contrary, if the request is verified as not in order or as not
having received in time for the Company to include a copy of the
statement in the notice of AGM or the Shareholder(s) concerned
has/have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s
expenses for the circulation purpose within the time frame (as the
case may be), the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, the statement will not be circulated to

Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the meeting.
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Shareholders’ Relations (continued)

Dividend policy

With the aim of providing Shareholders with a sustainable dividend stream,
the Company adopted a dividend policy in November 2018. This policy
provides guidelines to the Board in determining dividends. It clearly sets out
considerations the Board shall take into account when proposing dividends.
These factors include, inter alia, financial performance, working capital
requirements and future development plans of the Company and general
economic environment. Subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations and
the Articles of Association of the Company, the Board may declare dividends
provided that there is a profit (excluding valuation changes) for the year/
period concerned. To give flexibility to the Board in making payout decisions
after having regard to the circumstances then pertaining, the dividend policy
does not specify any payout ratio, the form dividends shall take or frequency
they shall be declared. This policy will be subject to review by the Board from

time to time and be updated as and when considered necessary.
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report

TEEESEEHRE

Approach and Strategy

Being a responsible enterprise, the Company is not only concerned with
its financial growth but also its non-financial performance. The Company
recognises that the manner in which it conducts business will impact on
the environment and society. As such, the management strives to make a
positive contribution to the sustainability development of the environment
and society by integrating the socially responsible practices in its daily
operation. The Executive Directors are responsible for driving environmental
and social responsibilities initiatives and reviewing their practices for
performance improvement whilst the Board assumes an overall responsibility

for the Company’s environmental and social strategy and reporting.

Reporting Scope

This Corporate Social Responsibility Report provides a review on the Group’s
performance of its environmental and social responsibilities for the financial
year ended 31 March 2020. As iISQUARE is the Group’s main business

operation, its performance is included herein unless otherwise specified.

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (“Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules. Its content is determined through a process which involves
identification of stakeholders and relevant issues in relation to environmental
and social responsibilities and prioritisation of the issues to be reported
after taking into account the stakeholders’ expectations and the Group’s
unique business nature. In this report, only the environmental and social
responsibilities initiatives and performance that are material and/or relevant
to the Group and its stakeholders are outlined. During the financial year
ended 31 March 2020, the Company complied with all the “comply or

explain” provisions, where applicable, set out in the Guide.
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Stakeholders’ Engagement and Materiality
Assessment

To truly understand the views and expectations of the stakeholders on
sustainability development, the Company keeps ongoing communication
with its key stakeholders. During the year under review, the Company
engaged its shareholders, employees, business partners and tenants
through face-to-face discussions and/or questionnaires. Reporting issues
are identified according to the impact of the issues on the Group’s business
and stakeholders as evaluated by the management and the stakeholders

respectively.

Environmental Issues

Policy

Since the management acknowledges that the Group shall take into account
the impact of its business operation on the environment while achieving
financial growth, the Group has adopted an environmental policy with a

focus on the following:
1. ensuring full compliance with applicable legislation and requirements

2. incorporating environmental considerations into contracting decisions

and tenant selection where practicable

3. promoting environmental awareness among staff

4. adopting eco-friendly practices in daily operation

5. disposing of waste in an environmentally responsible way

6. reducing waste and where practicable, reusing and recycling materials

7. communicating the Group’s policy to its key stakeholder and
encouraging it to integrate the environmental concerns into its

operation process
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Environmental Issues (continued)

Initiatives

In order to support environmental conservation, the Group, in addition to its
practice in collecting used/useless lai see packets for recycling, participated
in the lai see packets reuse programme organised by Greeners Action during
the year under review by sponsoring it for the event and providing ISQUARE as
one of the collection points. To adhere to the principle of reusing materials
as laid down in the environmental policy on the one hand and help the needy
on the other, the Group fulfilled its target of donating all the computers which
were replaced during the financial year under review to charities. The Group
also took part in “Earth Hour 2020” organised by World Wide Fund for

Nature (“WWF”) so as to raise environmental awareness in the workplace.

Simultaneously, the Group continues to operate office facilities in an

environmentally responsible manner, for instance:

o using water-saving sanitary fittings, such as dual flushing cisterns and

photo-sensor water taps
o purchasing white paper with FSC certification only

o disposing of used paper which is good for recycling through a paper

recycling company

. employing multi-zone lighting controls
. returning used toners/cartridges to suppliers for recycling
o using environmentally friendly paper for printing corporate

communication to shareholders

. switching off air-conditioning, lights and computers when they are not

in use
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Environmental Issues (continued)

Initiatives (Continued)

For the purpose of matching up the Group’s concern over environmental
protection, ISQUARE, being the Group’s main business operation, also
takes proactive steps towards this end. During the year under review, it
participated in “Earth Hour 2020” as organised by WWF and provided
venue at a great discount to organisations for promoting ecology and
environmental conservation, such as Environmental Association and World
Green Organisation for hosting an ecology/culture exhibition and a paper

saving event respectively.

In addition to the aforesaid, iISQUARE keeps employing those green

measures it has been using, such as:

o use of ultra low sulphur diesel for generator
o diversion of used water from cooling towers for flushing
o reviewing and, where possible, shortening daily operating hours of

lights and air-conditioning at common areas accessible by shoppers

. encouraging tenants to follow guidelines in relation to environmentally
friendly practices and providing them with hints thereon through

iISQUARE publications

o recycling waste paper, plastics and metals via the participation of
the “Programme on Source Separation of Commercial and Industrial

Waste” as organised by the Environmental Protection Department

. equipping the building with energy saving features and materials,
such as the use of glass curtain walls to minimise lighting sources and
window films with anti-UV coating to reduce solar radiation and heat,

where appropriate
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Environmental Issues (continued)

Initiatives (Continued)

With the implementation of various energy saving initiatives during the year
under review, the amount of electricity purchased by iISQUARE from power
company and the indirect greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions generated
therefrom reduced by approximately 10.42% and 30.01% respectively (details
of which are shown in the table below) when compared with the baseline
figures of the financial year ended 31 March 2015, the first year energy

numbers were collected.

XERAFEMETHZIESEREE  BRES
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FEE 2 BIE A £910.42% }.30.01% (B R T
*=) e

Year ended 31 March

BZE3ANALFE
2020 2019 2015
Issues Unit (Baseline)
E-S] By (€29
Amount of purchased electricity MWh 12,133.39 12,427.01 13,544.42
BEE IR E /N
Indirect GHG emissions from purchased electricity tonnes of CO, equivalent 6,066.69 6,337.78 8,668.43

RAEEMBENE I MEENHBEER

ZREYNE AW _SREES

To further reduce electricity consumption, iISQUARE will continue its energy
saving programme on lighting system through identification of locations

where more energy efficient lights could be installed.

In the coming financial year, ISQUARE will also keep exploring new green
measures and start recycling glass bottles by providing a few collection

points thereat.
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Environmental Issues (continued)

Performance

Since the Group is principally engaged in property investment and
investment holding, and iISQUARE is predominantly service-oriented, the
total amount of direct GHG emissions generated by them is relatively small.
The largest contributor to the carbon footprint of the Group (including
ISQUARE) in the year under review was the indirect GHG emissions from

electricity consumption.

1. GHG emissions' (CO, equivalent)

HRAREEIENRENEERERRERR - ME
BESAEIEUNRE AN EFFEENERAE
REBRFNERSD - RAFE  AREMmMES
HMEZ A EREBHEASE (BREERES) i
RN EZHR o

1. RERBHN (Z&REE)

Year ended 31 March

Indicators Unit BZ3A31HLEE

B B 2020 2019

Direct sources (Scope 1)’

BRI (85E1)

o Diesel tonnes 0.59 0.72
C9: N

Indirect sources (Scope 2)1

AR (#E2)’

. Electricity3 tonnes 6,098.96 6,370.51
BN AW

Other indirect sources (Scope 3)1

R AR (#E3)

e  Flectricity used for processing fresh water’ tonnes 20.60 2517
BRERKMmERNES" N

e Flectricity used for processing sewage5 tonnes 9.52 13.52
RIZSKMEANEH° N

e Paper waste disposed at landfills® tonnes 0.95 1.39
FE R B NI

Total GHG emissions (Scopes 1, 2 and 3) tonnes 6,130.62 6,411.31

RERSEBINE (HET - 2K%3) NI

GHG emissions avoided

B2NAEREBHER

e Recycling of paper’ tonnes (199.15) (202.85)
ARaR N
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Environmental Issues (continued) IRIFEE @
Performance (Continued) RIA \)
2. Energy consumption 2. BB
Year ended 31 March
Indicators Unit HBZE3ASIHILLEE
EE By 2020 2019

Direct energy consumption

BB EFE
¢ Diesel MWh 2.49 3.02
e3h® ST/

Indirect energy consumption

(RIS FE

e Electricity’ MWh 12,197.93 12,491.20
25 JENE

Total energy consumption MWh 12,200.42 12,494.22

BEREEEE SN

Total energy consumption per m2 of floor area MWh/m2 0.23 0.24

BYFKEHEBEERERESE PN VP

3. Paper consumption™ 3. #IRHE"
Year ended 31 March

Indicators Unit HZESASIHILLEE

it By 2020 2019

e (Office paper kg 538.65 537.17
N AR

e Paper for printing corporate communication kg 1,382.35 1,343.84
ENSLA RSB AAAR NI

Total paper consumption kg 1,921.00 1,881.01

BREAR AF
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Environmental Issues (continued) IRIBEE @
Performance (Continued) E3 10 )
4, Water consumption"’ 4, FKkE"
Year ended 31 March
Indicators Unit BZE3ANHLEFE
B B 2020 2019
Total water consumption md 48,565.00 62,309.00
HmAKE SR
Total water consumption per m? of floor area ms3/m? 0.92 117
BY¥HAREERE AKEE SHRFFK
As the Group s situated at ISQUARE where water is provided by the HRANEERSEMNERES  MEEE
Water Supplies Department, the Group (including iISQUARE) has not 152 HOKTIRBKIBEE - AL E(BIEE
encountered any problem in sourcing water for daily operation. W% ) £ B BB B ARB EAORGLER
EfAIERE -
5. Waste management 5 EWER
Year ended 31 March
Indicators Unit BZ3ANBLEE
B B 2020 2019
Non-hazardous waste disposed at landfills'®
BEEREEBHESEEY”
Total non-hazardous waste disposed at landfills tonnes 1,695.50 1,975.95
BEENEERNESEREYES NI
Total non-hazardous waste disposed at landfills per m2 of floor area tonnes/m? 0.03 0.04
BYKEREE RENEERNESEEYEE DMK
Waste collected for recycling
BERIEIR
e Paper® kg 41,490.00 42,260.00
AR N
e Plastics" kg 189.00 231.00
' A
e Metals” kg 151.00 179.00
SB" N
o Tomers/cartridges16 pieces 10 17
s, BE" -
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Environmental Issues (continued)
Performance (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

GHG emissions, including classification and calculation basis, are based on
the “Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions
and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional
Purposes) in Hong Kong” as prepared by the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department and the Environmental Protection Department (“Hong
Kong GHG Guidelines”). All numbers in this table, where applicable, are
rounded to two decimal places.

Boundary for the scopes

Scope 1 is the direct GHG emissions from the emergency generator owned
and controlled by iISQUARE. It excludes any offsets, if available.

Scope 2 is the indirect GHG emissions that are resulted from the generation
of electricity which the Group (including iISQUARE but excluding tenants
which purchased power through their own metered supply) purchased from

power company for own consumption.

Scope 3 is other indirect GHG emissions that () come from paper waste
disposed by the Group at landfills; and (i) are relevant to the activities of
the Group and iISQUARE and are generated due to electricity used for
processing fresh water and sewage, excluding those operated from tenants’
own metered supply, by government departments.

The breakdown of Scope 1 GHG emissions in respect of the financial year
ended 31 March 2020 is as follows: carbon dioxide (0.59 tonnes of CO,
equivalent), methane (0.0001 tonnes of CO, equivalent) and nitrous oxide
(0.0005 tonnes of CO, equivalent).

Emissions are calculated as per the amount of diesel consumed by the
emergency generator of ISQUARE and the emission factors and the Global
Warming Potentials set out in the Hong Kong GHG Guidelines.

Emissions are calculated according to the amount of electricity purchased by
the Group (including ISQUARE) for own consumption as shown in electricity
bills and the latest emission factor as published by the relevant electricity
provider.

Emissions are calculated based on the amount of water consumed by the
Group (including iISQUARE) as shown in water bills, the latest available unit
electricity consumption of fresh water as published by the Water Supplies
Department and the territory-wide default value of purchased electricity.

Emissions are calculated based on the amount of water consumed by the
Group (including iISQUARE) as shown in water bills, the latest available unit
electricity consumption of processing sewage as published by the Drainage
Services Department and the territory-wide default value of purchased
electricity.
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Environmental Issues (continued)

Performance (Continued)

Note 6:  Emissions are calculated based on the amount of office paper consumed
by the Group (excluding paper generated by the management company
engaged to run iISQUARE (“MgtCo”) for any purpose in relation to iISQUARE)
net of office paper collected for recycling and the relevant emission factor set
out in the Hong Kong GHG Guidelines.

Note 7:  Emissions avoided are calculated according to the amount of paper collected
for recycling (including paper generated within the Group, paper tendered by
external parties to the Group, and paper disposed through iSQUARE) and
the relevant emission factor provided in the Hong Kong GHG Guidelines.

Note 8:  Energy consumption is calculated based on the amount of diesel consumed
by the emergency generator at iISQUARE and the relevant conversion factor
set out in the “List of common conversion factors (Engineering conversion
factors)” as published by IOR Energy Pty Ltd.

Note 9:  Energy consumption is the amount of electricity purchased by the Group
(including ISQUARE) for own consumption as shown in electricity bills.

Note 10: Referring to paper generated by the Group only (excluding paper generated
by the MgtCo for any purpose in relation to iISQUARE).

Note 11: Being the amount of water used by the Group (including iISQUARE) as shown
in water bills.

Note 12: Being the estimated amount of general waste disposed through iSQUARE,
including those generated by the Group. Such amount is derived based on
the aggregate of the average daily amount of general waste for (i) weekdays
and (i) weekends/public holidays as collected and weighed by the cleaning
contractor of iISQUARE at different time slots multiplied by the number of
relevant days in a year.

Note 13: Including paper generated within the Group, paper tendered by external
parties to the Group, and paper disposed through iISQUARE.

Note 14: Being plastics disposed through iISQUARE.
Note 15: Being metals disposed through iSQUARE.

Note 16: Being toners/cartridges used by the Group.

Due to their business nature, the Group (including iISQUARE) does not
generate a material amount of hazardous waste and disclosure of total
packaging material used for finished products is not applicable.

Save as disclosed above, the operating activities of the Group (including
iISQUARE) have no significant impact on the environment and natural
resources.

Compliance with environmental-related laws and
regulations

During the year under review, the Group (including iISQUARE) was not aware
of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations relating to the
environment that had a significant impact on it.
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Social Issues

Since the management of iISQUARE has been outsourced to the MgtCo
and there is no need for the Group to directly deal with employment-related
matters in respect of ISQUARE, discussion on areas relating to social issues
only covers the Group and does not include staff of the MgtCo employed for

general building and property management of iSQUARE.

Employment

As the Group’s success depends largely on the support of its employeesNO‘e,
the management places great emphasis on maintaining a quality workplace.
Building up a culture which advocates ethical and responsible business
practices has become essential. To this end, the Group has adopted a
general code of conduct (“Code”) which applies to both Directors and
employees and deals with areas of data privacy, copyright protection,
prevention of bribery, “whistle-blowing” and equal opportunities. According
to the Code, employees are required to observe the requirements of the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance, the Disability Discrimination Ordinance, the Family
Status Discrimination Ordinance and the Race Discrimination Ordinance and
their respective codes of practice. In addition, the Group has laid down an
employment policy, setting out its principles on recruitment and promotion,
such as equal opportunities and “selection on capability” basis. Procedures
and factors to be considered on review of the remuneration packages of the
senior management are delineated in the remuneration policy. Information in
respect of the Group’s remuneration review mechanism is mentioned in the
Corporate Governance Report headed “Remuneration committee” as set out
on pages 15 to 17. To be consistent with the principles of the employment
policy on motivating employees and providing equal opportunities,
performance appraisal is conducted annually. It is the basis for salary

adjustment, discretionary bonus and promotion.

Although policies on compensation and dismissal, working hours and rest
periods, and some other benefits and welfare are not put in writing, relevant
steps to govern their application and due observance have been developed
and implemented under the management of the Executive Directors of the

Company.

Note: Staff/femployees exclude Directors of the Company and staff employed by the
MgtCo for general building and property management of iSQUARE throughout
this Corporate Social Responsibility Report.
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Social Issues (continued)

Development and training

In order to create a supportive workplace which enables the employees to
develop their professional potential and discharge their duties adequately,
the Group provides subsidy for job-related training to all full-time employees,
irrespective of their rankings. Given the complexity of job duties, senior
management is provided with additional funding for outside training. Other
than financial support, the Group also organises group-wide training for its
staff from time to time.

Key topics covered by the training undertaken by the employees during the
year under review included:

o compliance and regulatory refresher
. health issues

Employee engagement

Since a good work-life balance is considered significant to the employees,
the Group encourages its staff to complete their tasks within office hours
and organises gatherings for them so as to promote the spirit of the Group.
Understanding its employees’ concerns, the Company had reviewed and
enhanced its Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme. During the financial year
ended 31 March 2020, the Company was awarded “Good MPF Employer”
by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority.

Although the Group does not have a collective bargaining policy or similar
practice in place, it respects its employees and takes steps to ensure their
voices are heard. Other than departmental meetings and communication
through emails, the Group encourages direct dialogue between the
management and staff by adopting a non-bureaucratic culture. Employees
can freely bring up issues to the management when they consider
necessary.

Employee satisfaction survey is another important means for the Group
to solicit staff opinions about their work environment and expectation.
Result is shared by the management so as to identify ways to make further
improvement.

During the year under review, a satisfaction survey on employees was
conducted. Over 83% (2019: 77%) of the respondents found either satisfied
or very satisfied with the Group as a whole whilst about 80% (2019: 71%)
was happy with the workforce-management relationship. As at 31 March
2020, around two-thirds of the employees have been working with the
Group over a decade. The employee turnover rate for the financial year
ended 31 March 2020 was about 9.38% (2019: 3.08%) while the employee
absence rate was around 1.51% (2019: 1.72%).
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Social Issues (continued)

Health and safety

Since the Group’s main business is property investment and investment
holding, health and safety risks posed to its employees as a result of
occupational activities are relatively low. Nevertheless, the Group is
dedicated to provide a healthy and safe work environment to its staff and

therefore has established a policy in this regard with an emphasis on:
o compliance with all applicable statutory requirements

° ensuring a continuous improvement of the health and safety level
at workplace by reviewing the operating practices and seeking

comments from employees from time to time

o adopting measures which can reduce, control and if possible,

eliminate hazards at workplace

o conveying the Group’s concerns over health and safety to the MgtCo
and requesting it to get its front-line staff and contractors familiarised

with the proper procedure required in that regard

For the purpose of providing clear guidelines to and ensuring safety of
employees, the Group, during the year under review, revised and formalised
work arrangements in times of typhoons and adverse weather conditions.
Subsequent to the outbreak of COVID-19, it also implemented special
measures in the workplace with the aim to reduce contact among co-
workers/employees whereby lower the risk of infection to staff. Although
initiatives taken varied from time to time, they included work-from-home
arrangement, change of office operating hours and meetings held by

electronic means.

Despite the relatively low occupational risks faced by employees, the
Group organised a talk delivered by the Labour Department and circulated
pamphlets concerning occupational health to staff during the year under

review.
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Social Issues (continued)

Labour standards

While the Group does not have its own specific policy regarding child labour
or forced labour, it is a statutory requirement in Hong Kong, a place where

the Group operates, not to engage child and forced labour.

During the year under review, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had a significant
impact on it relating to employment, health and safety, and labour standards

as mentioned in aspects B1, B2 and B4 of the Guide.

Supply chain management

Given the Group’s business nature and operation mode, its suppliers can
broadly be categorised into direct suppliers and indirect suppliers. For the
former one, it refers to those the Group directly liaises with, such as the
MgtCo, professional service providers and some other companies that
deliver services for support of the Group’s infrastructure and office operation
on areas such as insurance, banking and information technology. Services
of the indirect suppliers, such as electrical and mechanical engineering,
cleaning and security, are provided under the umbrella of the MgtCo. Based
on the expenditure level and the significance to the Group, the Group’s key
suppliers are bankers and the MgtCo, of which, the role of the latter one is
particularly important given its “contracting” relationships with the indirect

suppliers.

Since suppliers are the “extension” of the Group, their behaviour shall reflect
the Group’s values. Although the Group does not maintain a separate
policy on managing environmental and social risks of its suppliers, it has
embedded the relevant concerns in its environmental policy and health and
safety policy. As the MgtCo is the key supplier which poses a significant
impact on the Group, it is provided with relevant policies of the Group in the
hope that it can convey the Group’s concerns to the indirect suppliers. The
MgtCo is also requested to integrate the Group’s values into its operation
process where practicable and economically viable. Apart from written
communication, the Group has frequent direct dialogue and regular meetings
with the MgtCo. According to the said policies, the Group also reviews
its practices from time to time so as to reduce health and safety risks at
workplace and incorporates environmental considerations into contracting

decisions where practicable.
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Social Issues (continued)

Supply chain management (Continued)

Although more than 65% of the suppliers have been a working partner of
the Group over a decade, the Group values the relationships with them
and is eager to know if there is any room for improvement. To achieve it, a
satisfaction survey was sent to some suppliers on a random basis during the
year under review. The feedback of the survey was encouraging. It showed
that all (2019: 80%) the respondents found partnering with the Group was

not merely mutually beneficial, but also as a whole satisfactory.

Product/service responsibility

Shop tenants of ISQUARE are the Group’s key customers. Establishing a
sound and lasting relationship with them is pivotal to the success of the
Group. To facilitate a two-way communication, the management team pays
visits to the shops when required so as to exchange views with the tenants
directly and respond to their concerns efficiently. The tenants can also
contact the management, leasing and promotion teams via telephone and
email as and when needed. As a means to ensure tenants’ dissatisfaction,
if any, is properly addressed to in a timely manner, a formal complaint-
handling mechanism is in place as well. From the interaction with tenants, it
is noted that there are some areas such as management services the Group
has to further work on. With the aim of maintaining a long-term business
partnership with tenants, the Company reviews its strategies from time to
time and adopts special measures in extraordinary situation. During the
financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Company offered short-term relief
to tenants in view of the difficult operating environment subsequent to the

emergence of COVID-19 and local social incidents.

Other than customer relations, the Group also recognises the importance
of personal data protection. Relevant concerns have been incorporated into
the Code and are communicated to the employees. According to the Code,
employees are required to safeguard the privacy and security of personal
information of the Group’s stakeholders by observing the data protection
principles of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. Collected information is
accessible on a “need-to-know” basis. In view of the close relationship with
the MgtCo, the Group has also made known to it of the Group’s concerns in

this regard.
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Social Issues (continued)

Product/service responsibility (continued)

Providing a safe environment to the tenants is also a great concern to the
Group. Although property management of ISQUARE is the job of the MgtCo,
the Group still closely monitors it by receiving updates from the MgtCo via
regular project meetings and daily report. On top of it, the project team also
patrols ISQUARE on a daily basis so as to ensure it is managed in an orderly
fashion. As for ad hoc issues, the MgtCo is required to report to the Group

promptly.

Anti-corruption

As the Group has zero-tolerance on any forms of bribery, corruption and
fraud, it has established a policy detailing situations in which acceptance of
advantages is allowed. Key principles concerning prevention of bribery and
channel for reporting suspected cases are set out in the Code. Employees
are required to undertake their adherence thereto. Besides, internal control
activities are in place to detect malpractices. Upon receipt of any reported
issues, the management will conduct investigation and handle them in the

manner set out in the Code.

To help staff stay alert to the pitfall of bribery and enhance their integrity, the
Group during the year circulated a leaflet published by Hong Kong Business

Ethics Development Centre to all its staff.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on it relating to product responsibility and anti-corruption as

mentioned in aspects B6 and B7 of the Guide.
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Social Issues (continued)

Community

In recognition of its role in advancement of the community, the Group has
established a community policy. General principles on donation, focus areas,
and the form in which the support is delivered are clearly set out therein.
During the year under review, the Group made donations to Greeners
Action, HKEX Foundation Limited and Alliance for Renal Patients Mutual

Help Association.

The Group believes that going beyond corporate philanthropy by providing
venues to organisations for hosting charitable events is the best way to help
the needy as it can inspire others to follow and draw the public attention to
the needs of the underprivileged. During the financial year ended 31 March

2020, the Group offered venues at a great discount to the following charities:

. Environmental Association

. Green Power

. Médecins Sans Frontieres

. MF Music & Art Promotional Association
o World Green Organisation

Other than giving support to individual charities for hosting specific events,
the Group also showed its continuous care to the local community by
granting Po Leung Kuk, an iconic charity in Hong Kong, a licence for placing

a donation box at iISQUARE throughout the year in question.
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Directors’ Report

EEEWE

The Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) submits herewith the
annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Group for

the year ended 31 March 2020.

Principal Place of Business

Tian Teck Land Limited (the “Company”) is a company incorporated and
domiciled in Hong Kong and has its registered office and principal place of
business at 9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company are property investment and
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the

subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as
the “Group”) during the financial year is set out in note 4 to the financial

statements.

Financial Statements
The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020
and the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the financial

statements on pages 84 to 150.
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Dividends and Annual General Meeting

An interim dividend of HK$0.21 per share (2019: HK$0.22 per share) was
paid on 13 January 2020. The Board now recommends the payment of a
final dividend of HK$0.10 per share (2019: HK$0.22 per share) in respect of
the year ended 31 March 2020.

Subject to the members’ approval on the proposed final dividend at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members of the
Company will be closed for the purpose of determining entitlement to
the said final dividend from Wednesday, 16 September 2020 to Friday,
18 September 2020, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares will be effected. All transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Tuesday, 15 September
2020. The proposed final dividend will be paid on Monday, 12 October 2020
to members whose names appear on the register of members on Friday,
18 September 2020, following approval at the annual general meeting to be

held on Thursday, 10 September 2020.

For the purpose of determining the identity of members who are entitled
to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 3 September
2020 to Thursday, 10 September 2020, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. All transfers accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Wednesday,
2 September 2020.
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Business Review and Commentary

Business model and strategies

The Group’s business is property investment in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China. The Group generates and preserves its value through

being an investor in those property markets.

To accomplish this, the Group strives to nurture growth from its existing
properties through prudent management. Whilst the Group generally
maintains a prudent and conservative approach towards property
investment, it also seeks to exploit opportunities for future development. With
the aim of securing stable and recurring returns, the Group has adopted
very stringent investment criteria and targets only high quality projects and

investments.

The Group recognises the importance of sound financial strength to support
sustainable growth and future development and hence, its fundamental
strategy is to maintain a solid financial position with strong cash flows and a

low gearing ratio.

Financial results

The Group achieved a profit from operations before valuation changes
in investment properties of HK$482.0 million for the financial year ended
31 March 2020, representing a decrease of approximately 4.4% compared
with the previous financial year. The decrease was mainly due to decrease in
rental income from ISQUARE compared to the previous financial year. In view
of the continuing social unrest and the outbreak of the novel coronavirus
(COVID-19) in Hong Kong, the Group has granted various short-term rental
concessions to most of the tenants, which in turn have caused a negative
impact to the cash flows of the Group. For accounting standard purposes,
all short-term rental concessions are being amortised over the remaining

terms of the respective leases.

Net valuation losses on investment properties for the financial year ended
31 March 2020 amounted to HK$1,314.1 million, compared with the net
valuation losses of HK$270.5 million for the previous financial year. The
valuation losses will only affect the accounting profit or loss but not the cash

flows of the Group.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to equity shareholders of
HK$460.1 million, compared with a profit attributable to equity shareholders of

HK$73.7 million for the previous financial year.
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Business Review and Commentary continued)
Financial results (continued)

iISQUARE is a commercial complex housing retail, entertainment, food
and beverage establishments. Rental income from iISQUARE amounted to
approximately HK$585.4 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2020,
representing a decrease of approximately 3.5% compared with the previous
financial year. The occupancy rate at 31 March 2020 was approximately

87.2% (2019: 92.9%).

The Group’s investment properties comprising four floors of Goodluck
Industrial Centre in Lai Chi Kok and one floor of a commercial building in

Guangzhou in the PRC, continued to generate rental income during the year.

Capital structure and liquidity
The total equity for the Group at 31 March 2020 was HK$12,682.4 million,
compared with HK$14,006.3 million at 31 March 2019.

On 7 October 2013, Associated International Hotels Limited (“AlHL”), a
50.01% owned subsidiary, entered into a facility agreement with a bank
comprising of a 3-year term loan facility of up to HK$200 million and a 3-year
revolving loan facility of up to HK$100 million both at floating interest rate.
On 30 August 2016, AIHL entered into a supplemental agreement with
the bank for extension of the facilities for three years to 8 October 2019. In
compliance with certain conditions, the facilities have been further extended
for two additional years to 8 October 2021. At 31 March 2020, the banking
facilities were utilised to the extent of HK$200 million (2019: HK$200 million)
and the Group’s gearing ratio (calculated as total bank loans divided by total

equity) was 1.6% (2019: 1.4%).
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Business Review and Commentary (continued)
Staff

At 31 March 2020, the total number of employees of the Group, excluding
the staff employed by Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited
for general building and property management of iISQUARE, was 37 (2019:
37) and the related costs incurred during the year were approximately

HK$28.7 million (2019: HK$27.5 million).

In addition to salaries, medical and retirement benefits, the Group pays
discretionary bonuses to its staff. Sponsorships for necessary outside

training courses are also provided by the Group to its staff.

Key performance indicators
(@  Cost of services to revenue ratio
. Definition and calculation: Cost of services to revenue ratio
measures the operation efficiency by comparing cost of
services as a percentage of revenue. It shows the level of direct

expenditure required to generate every dollar of revenue.

o Purpose: The Group emphasises cost control. The ratio
provides direction on controlling and better using expenses.
iISQUARE is the principal investment of the Group and it
contributed 97.6% of the Group’s revenue for the financial year
ended 31 March 2020 (2019: 97.4%). The extent to which this
goal has been achieved is assessed by comparing the ratio
for ISQUARE from one year to the next, as it is an indicator

showing the operation efficiency of ISQUARE.

o Quantified KPI data: The cost of services to revenue ratio for
ISQUARE at 31 March 2020 was 15.5% (2019: 14.2%).
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Business Review and Commentary (continued)
Key performance indicators (Continued)
(b)  Occupancy rate (b)
o Definition and calculation: Occupancy rate is a measure that °
reflects the leasing performance. It is defined as lettable area
that have been rented out as a percentage of the total lettable

area.

o Purpose: The Group aims to enhance leasing performance. °
The extent to which this goal has been achieved is assessed by
comparing occupancy rate for each investment property from
one year to the next, as it is an indicator showing the leasing

performance of various properties in the Group.

o Quantified KPI data: .

7% R & 5V ()
B RIRIEE @)
T

EENAE - BEERRREBRR
WEE77%  eiECEHFIEAEE
HAER HA BN B D

BEY: ARBUARAEBRER A
%o HEXZ—(ERTAEETRY
EHERTNER LR FHE

—FRIREMENBE R AL B
REEINERE -

EERRRRFEREIE -

Occupancy rate

HE=
At 31 March At 31 March
2020 2019
A2020%F 20194
Major investment properties FEREWE 3H31H 3A31H
iISQUARE &S 87.2% 92.9%
Other commercial properties in Hong Kong IR B8 K ELfth F 2 3% 0%* 100%
Commercial properties in the PRC (RNl o= S S 78.3% 50.1%
Industrial properties in Hong Kong MR EBR T 95.1% 100%

*

The tenant has early terminated the lease in January 2020.

Environmental policies, performance and related
compliance; key relationships with stakeholders
Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
compliance with environmental-related laws and regulations as well as

key relationships with its stakeholders as required by Schedule 5 to the

REBR - RERMEENEST
SRR ENERREEF

REB(RREPDM RS 2 BRMEHBRAE
BERSHR RRR WP ERIAR 0A R R
B - AREEF AR E 2 EEBENH - 5]

* BPR-E-TF— ARARIEEE -

; BRI

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance can be found in the Corporate Social BN ANFREEEFEHLEMDELSELRE
N

Responsibility Report on pages 39 to 55 of the annual report, and such

discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.
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Business Review and Commentary (continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties

Discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group as
required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance can be
found in the Corporate Governance Report headed “Risk Management and
Internal Control — Principal risks and uncertainties” as set out on pages 25
to 30 of the annual report, and such discussion forms part of this Directors’

Report.

Particulars of important events
The Board has not identified any important events affecting the Group that

have occurred since the end of the financial year.

Outlook

With the social unrest continuing in Hong Kong and in recent months, the
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has caused significant disruptions for retailers
and restaurant operators in Hong Kong. This is causing an adverse impact

on the Hong Kong leasing market.

Management will continue to take appropriate measures to cope with
current situation. It is anticipated that the adverse impact on rental income
from iISQUARE and the results from operations of the Group for the coming

financial year will continue.
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Directors

The Directors of the Company during the financial year and up to the date of

this report were:

Executive Directors
Cheong Hooi Hong
Cheong Kheng Lim
Cheong Keng Hooi
Cheong Sim Lam

Cheong Chong Ling

Non-executive Director

Sin Cho Chiu, Charles (vacated from office with effect from 26 June 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Chow Wan Hoi, Paul
Wong Yiu Tak

Tse Pang Yuen

In accordance with articles 95 and 96 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr Cheong Sim Lam and Mr Wong Yiu Tak shall retire from

the Board by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

During the financial year and up to the date of this report, directors of
all the Company’s subsidiaries (except Associated International Hotels
Limited (“AIHL”) whose directors also included Miss Cheong Chong Ling,
Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles (vacated from office with effect from 26 June
2019), Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul, Mr Wong Yiu Tak and Mr Lee Chung) were
Mr Cheong Hooi Hong, Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, Mr Cheong Keng Hooi and

Mr Cheong Sim Lam.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

The executive directors (except Miss Cheong Chong Ling) were appointed to
their respective executive offices in the Company’s subsidiary, AIHL, for an
initial period of two years effective on 1 January 1986 and their appointments
continue after the said period unless and until either party gives to the other
three months’ notice in writing and their respective directorship shall also
be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Articles of Association of AIHL.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of

compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and considers all the independent non-

executive directors to be independent.

Interests and Short Positions of Directors and
Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures

As at 31 March 2020, the directors and chief executives of the Company
and their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had the following
interests in the shares of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model

Code”):
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Interests and Short Positions of Directors and
Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures (continued)

(@ The Company

EERBEESITRAEERS -
EROMEEZEPNERAR

(%)

(@ ZA&AF

Number of shares

R#HEE
Total % of total
Personal Family beneficial issued voting
interests interests interests shares
HEBITH
BRERE
BnEs RGEEH
Name H®H B AR REER B BOL
Cheong Hooi Hong SEIEIE 4,035,792 590,000 4,625,792 0.97%
Cheong Kheng Lim FBEIRAR 46,023,872 115,292 46,139,164 9.72%
Cheong Keng Hooi sEAmIE 26,862,036 1,002,384 27,864,420 5.87%
Cheong Sim Lam fEpeea) 1,099,504 - 1,099,504 0.23%
Cheong Chong Ling itz 412,000 — 412,000 0.09%
(b) Associated International Hotels Limited (b) SEEME/EBRATR
Number of ordinary shares
ZEREA
Total % of total
Personal Family beneficial issued voting
interests interests interests shares
HEBITH
BRERE
BRER IR A7 48 2L Y
Name ®H B A= REER R BotE
Cheong Hooi Hong SEIBIE 2,073,992 - 2,073,992 0.58%
Cheong Kheng Lim BT 24,555,715 1,034,000 25,589,715 7.11%
Cheong Keng Hooi s 11,759,839 275,280 12,035,119 3.34%
Cheong Sim Lam fzibede] 1,807,155 24,000 1,831,155 0.51%
Cheong Chong Ling $EIEIS 1,588,000 - 1,588,000 0.44%
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Interests and Short Positions of Directors and
Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures (continued)

(c) Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited

EERBESITRAEERD -
EROMEEZEPNERAR
(#0)

) REARLQH

Number of ordinary shares

EEREE
Total % of total
Personal Family beneficial issued voting
interests interests interests shares
HEBTH
BRERE
BhiEnR IRAD BB
Name HE fEA R XEER my BO
Cheong Hooi Hong fEIEIE 25 — 25 25%
Cheong Kheng Lim FBEIRAR 25 - 25 25%
Cheong Keng Hooi SEMNE 25 — 25 25%
Cheong Sim Lam SELARY 25 — 25 25%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the directors and
chief executives of the Company or their associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Interests and Short Positions of Substantial FERBEREMATERSANE
Shareholders and Other Persons in Shares and BERMD T HER K AR

Underlying Shares

As at 31 March 2020, other than the interests of the directors and chief b FIiATIEE 2 AN AR EE RESITHA B HE
executives of the Company as disclosed above, the Company has been AN AR RERA - WIRIBEEIRBESENE
notified of the following interests in the shares of the Company as recorded 336 T RN ERMOERETR RZE=F
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the FZRA=+—HHEEARRRG ZERENOT :

SFO:

Number of Percentage of total

shares issued voting shares

HEBITH
BREER©D
BOEE HwWEHEDL
Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited KEBR AT 237,370,032 50.001%
Cheong Kheng Lim SEIRMR 46,139,164 9.72%
(Note 1)(7%1)
Cheong Keng Hooi s 27,864,420 5.87%
(Note 2)(3¥2)
Lim Yoke Soon S =Fii 46,139,164 9.72%
(Note 1)(3£1)
Wu Soo Huei RE=E 27,864,420 5.87%
(Note 2)(3¥2)
Notes: i
(1) The interest disclosed by Mr Cheong Kheng Lim is the same as the 46,139,164 ©] BEMEEMBEBENREZANEBELTIREN
shares disclosed by Ms Lim Yoke Soon. Out of the 46,139,164 shares, 46,139,164 & & (9 48R - 7£46,139,164 &% 15+ -
46,023,872 shares were held by Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, and 115,292 shares 46,023,872R REEBIRM ST AEFFE » 115,202 Bl /R H
were held by his spouse, Ms Lim Yoke Soon. RBMEBRL A -
©) The interest disclosed by Mr Cheong Keng Hooi is the same as the 27,864,420 @) EREEEMEENEREREELLREDN
shares disclosed by Ms Wu Soo Huei. Out of the 27,864,420 shares, 27,864,420 & f& (9 48R © 7£27,864,420 & i 15 -
26,862,036 shares were held by Mr Cheong Keng Hooi, and 1,002,384 shares 26,862,036 1% R IEAIE L EF5H - 1,002,384 % Al &
were held by his spouse, Ms Wu Soo Huei. HEEREELTHE -
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, no other interests or short br EMPTEEESN - RZTEZZF=A=+—8H "

positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company required to be AN B A B A B r] H Ath A B R 7B 5

ey

recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO F336IKMABTFREL A AR R D FIAERE I

have been notified to the Company.

D2 RETBORA ©
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the
Company, its parent company or controlling shareholder or any of their
respective subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
or an entity connected with him (within the meaning of section 486 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) had a material interest (whether directly
or indirectly), was entered into in the year or subsisted at the end of the year

or at any time during the year.

Disclosure Relating to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules

Given that the director’'s emoluments of Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles were
paid by the Company and AIHL on a pro rata basis up to 26 June 2019,
i.e. the date on which he ceased to be a non-executive director, and a
member of the audit committee and remuneration committee of the said
companies, his director’s emoluments for the financial year ended 31 March
2020 decreased by HK$168,000 to HK$52,000 at the Company level and
HK$497,000 to HK$153,000 at the Group level compared with those for the
last financial year. The amount paid to Mr Sin pursuant to his contracts with
the said companies for serving on their board committees during the year
under review was HK$40,000 (2019: HK$170,000) at the Company level
and HK$129,000 (2019: HK$550,000) at the Group level.

Save as aforesaid, there are no changes in respect of the directors’
emoluments for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 when compared
with the last financial year at the Company level whilst the changes at the
Group level are due to allowances for expenses actually incurred by the
executive directors and director’s salary adjustment at the subsidiary level.

The Group’s policy regarding directors’ emoluments has not changed.
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Indemnity of Directors

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors of the Company is currently in

force and was in force throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2020.

Management Contracts

(@

Agreements exist between the Company and AlHL, a 50.01% owned
subsidiary, whereby AIHL agrees to provide administrative services
(company secretarial) and non-administrative services (office facilities
and staff) to the Company for an indefinite period. The aggregate
fees paid to AIHL for the year ended 31 March 2020 amounted to
HK$1,200,000 (2019: HK$1,200,000).

A management agreement exists between AIHL and Cushman &
Wakefield Property Management Limited whereby this management
company is responsible for general building and property management
(except for the services relating to tenancy) of iISQUARE. The
management agreement was renewed for a term of twelve months
commencing on 6 August 2012 and shall be automatically renewed
on an annual basis thereafter, subject to the right of termination by
AIHL. Manager’s remuneration of HK$600,000 (2019: HK$600,000)
was paid by AIHL for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Apart from the foregoing, no contract concerning the management and

administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the

Company was entered into or existed during the year.
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Fixed Assets

E=

[
fri}
s

Particulars of the investment properties of the Group are set out as follows: REEBRREYENT -

Properties held for leasing and capital appreciation HERSEARLFHY
Location Existing use Term of lease
b 2 RERAR HEFH
iISQUARE (excluding an office on 9th Floor) Shopping centre Medium

63 Nathan Road,

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

(Kowloon Inland Lot No. 7425)

RES (MEELRNVENRAE) B AR
MBS BCE N+ =57

(JLBEIBER 742555 )

Good Luck Industrial Building Workshops and car parking spaces Medium
Unit A on the Ground and 1st Floor,

and Car Parking Spaces Nos.

L1, L2, L3 & L4 on the Ground Floor,

105 How Ming Street, Kwun Tong,

Kowloon

(Kwun Tong Inland Lot No. 22)

IETERNE TS RIPERL A
HRABRL - —HEABN K

HRLA ~ L2 ~ L3RLA{FERL

NEBRETRAE-AT RN

(BB ER225%)

Goodluck Industrial Centre Petrol filing station, Medium
Ground, 2nd, 3rd and 4th Floors, showrooms, car parking

808 Lai Chi Kok Road, spaces and car

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon workshops

(New Kowloon Inland Lot No. 5780)

IFETEF L WL BRI E - FELRER R

W 8 =R
NERDEHZAENBET/R
(R LBE M X5 7805 )
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Fixed Assets continued)
Properties held for leasing and capital appreciation
(Continued)

[

it

=
REHEE ()
ERFENRENRE @)

hii

RS [of

Location Existing use Term of lease
b B RERZ HEFH
Euro Trade Centre Offices Long

5th Floor,

Nos. 13-14 Connaught Road Central and

Nos. 21-23 Des Voeux Road Central,

Hong Kong

(Marine Lot No.366)

BFEE 50 WA= RH
hig

EETHBR ==+ &

BHEP_T—E_T=5%

(/8551 B2 3665%)

Yi An Plaza Offices Medium
Unit 1 to 14, 8th Floor,

No. 33 Jianshe Liu Road,

Yuexiu District,

Guangzhou,

PRC

HEZES ¥/ A

NE—Z+ME
BRI T R
BERABB=1T=5%
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Major Customers and Suppliers
During the year, the five largest suppliers and five largest customers of the
Group accounted for less than 30% by value of the Group’s total purchases

and sales respectively.

Bank Loan and Other Borrowings
Particulars of bank loan and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March

2020 are set out in notes 20 to 22 to the financial statements.

Retirement Schemes
Particulars of the retirement schemes are set out in note 25 to the financial

statements.

Charitable Donations
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$441,000 (2019: HK$598,000).

Purchase, Sale or Redemption by the Company
and its Subsidiaries of its Listed Securities
There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the Company’s listed

securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the

Listing Rules.
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Five Year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the

last five financial years is set out on pages 151 to 152 of the annual report.

Auditor
KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the Company is to

be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Cheong Hooi Hong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEHSEEEASEAGRE

Executive Directors

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong, aged 73, has been the Chairman and a director
of the Company and Associated International Hotels Limited since 1983
and 1984 respectively. He currently is the Chief Executive Officer and the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company and Associated
International Hotels Limited. He is also a director of Tian Teck Investment
Holding Co., Limited and various subsidiaries in the Group. Mr Cheong is
a member of both the CPA Australia and the Institute of Certified Public
Accountants of Singapore. He holds a diploma from the Royal Melbourne
Institute of Technology in Commerce. He has extensive experience in
property development and investment both in Hong Kong and Singapore for

over 50 years.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Kheng Lim, Cheong Keng Hooi

and Cheong Sim Lam.

Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, aged 71, has been the Deputy Chairman and a
director of the Company since 1983 and 1969 respectively. He has been
the Deputy Chairman and a director of Associated International Hotels
Limited since 1984. He currently is the Chief Operation Officer of Associated
International Hotels Limited and a member of the nomination committee of
the Company and Associated International Hotels Limited. Mr Cheong is
also a director of Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited and various

subsidiaries in the Group.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong, Cheong Keng Hooi
and Cheong Sim Lam and is also the father of Miss Cheong Chong Ling, a

director.

Mr Cheong Keng Hooi, aged 67, has been a director of the Company and
Associated International Hotels Limited since 1983 and 1984 respectively.
He is the Chief Project Officer of Associated International Hotels Limited.
He is also a director of Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited and
various subsidiaries in the Group. Mr Cheong holds a degree of Bachelor of

Business Administration from the University of Hawaii.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong, Cheong Kheng Lim

and Cheong Sim Lam.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EEHEEEEASEARE

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr Cheong Sim Lam, aged 61, has been a director of the Company and
Associated International Hotels Limited since 1983 and 1984 respectively.
He is the Chief Investment Officer of Associated International Hotels Limited.
He is also a director of Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited and
various subsidiaries in the Group. He obtained a certificate in Accounting
and General Business from Kapiolani Community College, Hawaii and has

over 40 years of working experience.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong, Cheong Kheng Lim

and Cheong Keng Hooi.

Miss Cheong Chong Ling (also known as Cheong Chong Ling
Diamond), aged 49, joined the Group as an assistant to directors in 1997.
She has been a director of the Company and Associated International Hotels
Limited since 2007. She is the Chief Administration Officer of Associated
International Hotels Limited. Miss Cheong holds a degree of Bachelor of

Science from the School of Hotel Administration at Cornell University.

She is the daughter of Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, a director.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul, aged 64, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company and Associated International Hotels Limited since
2004. He currently also serves on the audit committee (as chairman),
remuneration committee (as chairman) and nomination committee (as
member) of the Company and Associated International Hotels Limited.
Mr Chow has significant experience in accounting and finance and has been
an Associate of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
since 1983 and an Associate of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
Australia since 1988 and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants.

Mr Wong Yiu Tak, aged 73, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company and Associated International Hotels Limited
in 2017. He currently also serves on the audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company and Associated
International Hotels Limited. Mr Wong holds a degree of Bachelor of
Science (Honours) from The University of Hong Kong and a Master of Law
from Peking University. He is now a serving solicitor in Hong Kong and a

consultant to Messrs. S.K. Wong & Co., Solicitors & Notaries.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr Tse Pang Yuen, aged 74, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since 2004. He currently also serves on the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company. Mr Tse is a veteran lawyer. He is admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong, England and Singapore and has been a managing partner of Messrs

Stephen Lo & P. Y. Tse, Solicitors since 1987.

Senior Management

Miss Susan Chan So Some, aged 69, joined the Group in 1987 and has
been the financial controller since 1990. Prior to joining the Group, Miss
Chan was a chief accountant of the Group’s ultimate holding company. She

has over 40 years of experience in accounting and financial management.

Mr Choi Ming Kwan, aged 63, joined the Company in 1981 and has been

the Group’s project manager since 1990.

Ms Ng Sau Fong, ACIS, ACS, aged 50, holds a degree of Bachelor of Arts
from The University of Hong Kong. Ms Ng joined the Group in 1992 as
assistant to directors and has been the company secretary of the Company

and Associated International Hotels Limited since 2004.

Ms Wong Siu Mei, CPA, aged 51, is the accounting manager of the
Company. She holds a degree of Master of Professional Accounting from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Prior to joining the Company in
2008, Ms Wong worked for a multinational corporation over 9 years in field

of accounting and treasury.

Note: Miss Chan, Mr Choi and Ms Ng are employed by Associated International
Hotels Limited and serve the Company pursuant to the management agreement

between the Company and Associated International Hotels Limited.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

B AR E

KkPMG

Independent Auditor’s Report to the
Members of Tian Teck Land Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian Teck Land
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages
84 to 150, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2020, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2020 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,

EARELER
MRS EERRER MO LAY - RAYA

were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial MG BN ERRAEENEIE - G 1tFE

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the

context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and

HRERMECEEGFAMBHRRREAZAR
ETREN - RATEHELFTREHREBNE

in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 8o

these matters.

Valuation of investment properties

REMENMGE

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy in note 1(d).

DR A BRI T 12 R EFHHE N 1(d)

The key audit matter
HRERSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
RANEZNAEEZSE

The Group holds a portfolio of investment properties located
in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China. These
investment properties are primarily represented by iISQUARE,
a shopping and entertainment complex located in Tsim Sha
Tsui, Hong Kong.
EEENEBRPEARANBHAHEREDE - EUER
BEMENFERRBERES - B BSUEEBRDMHE
—(EfR A IREE R IB YR -

Management’s assessment of the fair value of investment
properties is based on valuations performed by an external
property valuer in accordance with recognised industry
standards.

EIE ERIBINIEY) 2 M ERDIZ IR AR F] ) VIR PEI TN
B FHEEEDENLAEE-

One of the key drivers of the valuation of investment
properties is rental income which can be volatile, particularly
in light of the current economic status of the retail industry in
Hong Kong.
REWEMGLENE P —ERRESHE X FERDNHE
WA - FRRENR SR EBTEENLEMN -

Tian Teck Land Limited XZE#thEHR A T

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment

properties included the following:

B AR EMEHENBZEFBEATIERS

assessing the external property valuer’s qualifications,
experience and expertise in the properties being valued,
and considering their objectivity and independence;
FHEIMNEMELEMNER « AREMENERIEE
M AREEEZH MM

obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared
by the external property valuer engaged by the Group on
which the management’s assessment of the fair value of
investment properties was based;

RBTieEhESELANMNEHEMAEREF HIRE
ME R BEMREOGERS

discussing with the external property valuer the valuation
methodology and key estimates and assumptions adopted
in the valuations;
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Valuation of investment properties

REMENMGEE

A E1E )

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy in note 1(d).

DR B BEIRAN T 12 R BRI 1(d)

The key audit matter
HRERER

How the matter was addressed in our audit
RANEZNMEEZSE

We identified valuation of the Group’s investment properties
as a key audit matter because the valuation of investment
properties is inherently subjective and requires significant
judgement and estimation which increases the risk of error or
potential management bias.

BIEESENIREYEGE ABREZEE  BAIRE
MEMEFEES TEKD - XAFTEERNHE MG
Mg T R E IR EEER R A ER o

with the assistance of our internal property valuation
specialists, on a sample basis, evaluating the valuation
methodology applied by the external property valuer and
challenging the key estimates and assumptions adopted
in the valuations, including capitalisation rates, prevailing
market rents and comparable market transactions, by
comparing the key estimates and assumptions used by the
external property valuer in the valuation of each investment
property with market available data and/or government
produced market statistics; and
EHRMOAFILMEBEAENBHT - R - 4
SNIE SR ER PTER A (B AFIE BB IMNEY 14
EMESREMEGRETRAN T EMA RERET BN
ISR R, LB RN TISHTEUE - EEERAH
RANI2MAAMERER (BEENELE - Bigwmisil
MR SR S) IREEE &

comparing, on a sample basis, the tenancy information,
including committed rents and occupancy rates, provided
by the Group to the external property valuer with underlying
contracts and documentation.
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Information Other Than the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
Thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise

appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concemn and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative

but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the audit committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor's Report B Z MR

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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Independent Auditor's Report B Z MR

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made

by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concemn. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the

Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.
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Independent Auditor's Report B Z MR

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and commmunicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought

to bear on our independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Yau Ngai Lun, Alan.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

29 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REEEREMEERKAXR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) EZE =2 - =A=+— B L FE (UBEEFR)

2020 2019
Note $000 $'000
BfaE Fr Tt
Revenue A 3 600,054 622,729
Cost of services BRAS R A (92,167) (87,239)
Gross profit E£F 507,887 535,490
Other revenue E A A 5 17,170 11,201
Other net loss H A E18)558 5 (2,668) (2,714)
Administrative expenses 1TIER (40,370) (39,539)
Profit from operations before valuation REYELES BN
changes in investment properties R 482,019 504,438
Net valuation losses on investment WAV GERE TS
properties 12(q) (1,314,131) (270,470)
(Loss)/profit from operations after BREVEMLBEEZEEN
valuation changes in investment g (B8, uRl
properties (832,112) 233,968
Finance costs B E A 6(a) (6,532) (4,855)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BBl (EE), SRR 6 (838,644) 229,113
Income tax FrisHt 9(a) (77,834) (81,214)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive ZNEEE (E1E) %5 K%
income for the year 2HEUAEEE (916,478) 147,899
Attributable to: THALRER:
— Equity shareholders of the Company ~ — ‘A RIS A% 5 (460,124) 73,669
— Non-controlling interests — FEIERR AR R AR (456,354) 74,230
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive ZNEEE (1) %R R
income for the year Z2HEUWAEEE (916,478) 147,899
(Loss)/earnings per share SR(EE)BF — ERXREE
— basic and diluted 11 $(0.97) $0.16

The notes on pages 90 to 150 form part of these financial statements. FUOOEZEFI50BEM M B AN EIH R — =6
Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company are set 5 o FERHA BIREEE R B AR B Y FEIE Y F M EE10 ©

out in note 10.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB R

At 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R =2 =—Z2F=HA=+— B8 (B %5 R)

2020 2019
Note $°000 $'000
Bzt T Tt
Non-current assets FREEE
Fixed assets BETEE 12(a)
— Investment properties — AW 12,545,780 13,859,790
— Other properties, plant and equipment  — E¥% - B L&RE 61,913 65,263
12,607,693 13,925,053
Current assets REBEE
Accounts receivable, deposits and EURERR ~ Rl RFEREK
prepayments 14 106,521 27,813
Current tax recoverable INHER UL FT S 9(c) 129 33
Pledged bank deposits BRI TR 15 2,956 13,147
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEY 16(a) 480,298 566,645
589,904 607,638
Current liabilities mENEE
Other payables and accruals HEMEMNSREETER 17 32,276 30,825
Deposits received BWET& 18 176,500 197,094
Provision for long service payments REARS & & 19 1,747 1,651
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 - 17
Current tax payable NERFETFTS L 9(c) 13,621 14,767
224,144 244,254
Net current assets REBEEEE 365,760 363,384
Total assets less current liabilities EERERABAER 12,973,453 14,288,437
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Bank loan — secured RITER — A 20 200,000 200,000
Government lease premiums payable FERT BB 22 1,722 1,791
Deferred tax liabilities BELEBIEAE 9(d) 89,368 80,305
291,090 282,096
NET ASSETS EEFE 12,682,363 14,006,341
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position &G4 Edhnk
At 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R=Z2 =2 =A=+— B8 (LB %5 R)

2020 2019
Note $000 $'000
Bzt T Tt

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERR G 23
Share capital &N 23(b) 121,830 121,830
Reserves =X 6,420,128 7,084,387
6,541,958 7,206,217
Non-controlling interests FEIERR IR R 6,140,405 6,800,124
TOTAL EQUITY ERREE 12,682,363 14,006,341

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2020. EFgN T TF AT NAETRF A B o

Cheong Hooi Hong Cheong Kheng Lim EFE Ea
Director Director EEE SFEIRM
The notes on pages 90 to 150 form part of these financial statements. FEEF 10BN EBAMBHREN —IH -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) B8Z 2 _—_Z2&=F=+—H I FE(UBEFIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARERRRES
Non-
Share Revaluation Retained controlling Total
capital reserve earnings Total interests equity
FER
kA& EfffE  REEF BE  REEZ ERLE
Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i3 Tr T T Tr Tr Tr
Balance at 1 April 2018 R2018%F4 A1 BHVAER 121,830 900951 6323396 7,346,177 6936458 14,282,635
Changes in equity TEERGEE .
for the year:
Profit and total comprehensive 28 & 5 F &
income for the year ERALE - - 73,669 73,669 74,230 147,899
Dividends approved in respect  BR E—BITHEE
of the previous financial year — #LA&ERIER S 10(b) - - (109,188) (109,188) - (109,188)
Dividends declared in respect ~ BIAARNETHEE
of the current financial year EIREIRE 10(a) = = (104,441)  (104,441) = (104,441)
Dividends paid to SAEERBRAOBRE
non-controlling interests — - — — (210,564) (210,564)
Balance at 31 March 2019 #2019F3A31AK
and 1 April 2019 201954 F1 HVAEER 121,830 900,951 6,183,436 7,206,217 6,800,124 14,006,341
Changes in equity rEERRZEE !
for the year:
Loss and total comprehensive N[ E5 18 %
income for the year 2EMAEE - - (460,124)  (460,124)  (456,354)  (916,478)
Dividends approved in respect B F—BIHERE
of the previous financial year ~ $t/ERIIE S 10(0) - - (104,441) (104,441 - (104,441)
Dividends declared in respect  BRAARBIHERE
of the current financial year ERARE 10(a) - - (99,694) (99,694) - (99,694)
Dividends paid to ZAFEERRR MRS
non-controlling interests - - - - (203,365) (203,365)
Balance at 31 March 2020 420203831 A& 121,830 900,951 5519,177 6,541,958 6,140,405 12,682,363

The notes on pages 90 to 150 form part of these financial statements.

FOAREF150ENMEBATEIHRRA—FF7 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GMERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) @2 —Z2=-ZFF=A=+—H L FE(UB%IR)

2020 2019
Note $°000 $'000
P Fr T
Operating activities BEEE
(Loss)/profit before taxation B RT(EE) M F (838,644) 229,113
Adjustments for: FHEIFE -
— Interest income FBUA (13,220) (10,473)
— Finance costs — BEKAKR 6,532 4,855
— Depreciation — e 4,342 4,563
— Net valuation losses on — REMELBEEEFRE
investment properties 1,314,131 270,470
— Net loss on disposals of fixed assets — REEE & EE B F5E - 2
— Foreign exchange loss — HNISTE H E51E 2,667 2,719
Operating profit before changes in EEESRBALE R
working capital 475,808 501,249
Increase in accounts receivable, FEMER S ~ T RIERTFIE N
deposits and prepayments (78,551) (8,030)
Increase in other payables and accruals — E fth B~ 3% K2 e+ 2 ARG N 1,489 2,961
Decrease in deposits received BURET & Rk (20,594) (1,602)
Increase in provision for long REARR TG & LI AN
service payments 196 66
Cash generated from operations REEBRBHRS 378,348 494,644
Tax paid BFIA
— Hong Kong Profits Tax paid — BB BREH (69,808) (73,185)
— PRC tax paid — BAHREFE (205) (140)
Net cash generated from KETHEBNESTE
operating activities 308,335 421,319
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Z8RE&Rexk

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 82 — 2 - F=A=+—H L FE (B R)

2020 2019
Note $°000 $'000
Pt e Fr T
Investing activities REEE
Interest received REE)) 13,063 9,966
Payment for purchase of fixed assets BABRTEEEMNK
other than investment properties (TBEREME) (992) (1,614)
Payment for expenditure on WEWHES WK
investment properties (2,781) 871)
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets & E & E & EFT ?%"?f/’\ - 1
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank BRFRITEROR A, (380)
deposits 10,191 (2,852)
Net cash generated from RETBFIBNESERE
investing activities 19,481 5,130
Financing activities R EE
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENREREReNERITS 16(b) 17) (29)
Payment for government lease XA BUTHE
premiums payable 16(b) (66) (63)
Interest paid on government lease B IRATHE RS
premiums payable 16(b) (93) (96)
Interest paid on bank loan ERITERFE 16(0) (5,750) (4,563)
Other borrowing costs paid BT E A fE SRR 16(b) (730) (249)
Dividends paid BEXRRE (204,135) (213,629)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 2 3% 15 FE12 A% A% 52 A% &, (203,365) (210,564)
Net cash used in financing activities ~ BEEEFTENIRE FEE (414,156) (429,193)
Net decrease in cash and cash REeRASEEYWRDF
equivalents (86,340) (2,744)
Cash and cash equivalents 7A2019/2018F4A1BEMBEE R
at 1 April 2019/2018 REeEZEEY 566,645 569,394
Effect of foreign exchange rates MEERSB NS
changes ) ()
Cash and cash equivalents M3ASTEMEESRREEEY
at 31 March 16(q) 480,298 566,645

The notes on pages 90 to 150 form part of these financial statements.

F0HEF 1508 HIHT:E
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90

Notes to the Financial Statements

BTSRRI EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 24 % ¥ % /R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies

(@

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by

the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 2
provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and

prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2020 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries

(together referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that the
investment properties are stated at their fair value as explained

in the accounting policies set out in note 1(d).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other

sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(©

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive

rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that

there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result in the Group
as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. For
each business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net

identifiable assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(©

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the
total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders

of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is

recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an

investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see

note 1(h)(ii), unless the investment is classified as held for sale.

1

FTESFTBER @)

(©

M~ R R IFZERER R ER
()

SERIRAR R SR A B B R A
KBRS TR A R R A D AR
fEE S D25 o HERBRATME
7R o S S TV IR AR AN T MR 2
1B R 2 A A T FE AR AR R £
AARESBREZ AR - B

BEBEREMEZERARPHRE
5l
NEBR B AT RS

IS HR ARG BERERER
ZFMATAAR - YRGS EETH
R ER S IR R AR AR M 2 O BRBR A

HREE - URRERERNES B
HEETSFHAR KT SEREN

RIS -

BEALBEKRE B R B A ES
- BINEHERRZMBEARNE
EiMER - FIWEL BN EIRER

HPER o BRAIMB A RIKEZES
BEBDRENEMEEARAEBE

R MZBERRS—HEREE
VIEHERN DA EBE - K(WER) K
BRN—THBERFHAELENER
BRI TERAKAS ©

BRARRRKBARNRERSER
FAERBEN  RARBHBMARA
ZRERBRKRARERERBE(2H
B S (h)(ii)) 8 B o

Annual Report 2019-2020 3R

93



94

Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held for a
currently undetermined future use and property that is being

constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated in the statement of financial
position at fair value, unless they are still in the course of
construction or development at the end of the reporting period
and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that time.
Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from the
retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised
in profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is

accounted for as described in note 1(p)()).

In the comparative period, when the Group held a property
interest under an operating lease and used the property to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the Group could
elect on a property-by-property basis to classify and account
for such interest as an investment property. Any such property
interest which had been classified as an investment property
was accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease, and
the same accounting policies were applied to that interest as
are applied to other investment properties leased under finance

leases.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e)

Other properties, plant and equipment

Other properties, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and equipment,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation (see note 1(g))

and impairment losses (see note 1(h)(ii).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of other properties, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss

on the date of retirement or disposal.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to

obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not

the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operating leases is recognised in

accordance with note 1(p)()).
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Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

)

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of other

properties, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual

value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated

useful lives as follows:

— Land and buildings Over the shorter of the unexpired
term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 40

years after the date of completion

— Furniture, fixtures and 5 years
equipment

— Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of other properties, plant and equipment

have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated

on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is

depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its

residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost (including pledged bank deposits,
cash and cash equivalents and other receivables) and

accounts receivable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value
of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between
the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is

material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and other receivables:
effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition or an approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective

interest rate; and

— accounts receivable: discount rate used in the

measurement of the accounts receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is

exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of

future economic conditions.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(h)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events

within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL

model applies.

Loss allowances for accounts receivable are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal

to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(h)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i) the debtor
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in
full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset is
90 days past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost

or effort.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 1 FESTEER @
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets (h) FEEEFEREERE@®E)

(Continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has

increased significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or interest

on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit

rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in

the operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability

to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due

status and credit risk ratings.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

U

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to

their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
accounts receivable is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash

flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in

profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that other properties, plant and equipment and
investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement
of financial position may be impaired or an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have

decreased.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable

amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows

independently (i.e. a cash generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use

(if determinable).
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i)  Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

— Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. A reversal
of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals

are recognised.

(i) Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group
is required to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in
respect of the first six months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as
it would at the end of the financial year (see notes 1(h)(i)

and (ii)).

Accounts and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is

required before payment of that consideration is due.

Accounts and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less allowance for credit losses (see note 1(h)(i)),
except where the receivables are interest-free loans made
to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the
effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the

receivables are stated at cost less allowance for credit losses.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

0)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value
less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing

costs (see note 1(r)).

Accounts and other payables

Accounts and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they

are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in
note 1(h)(i).
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(m) Employee benefits

()

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are

stated at their present values.

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs

involving the payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax

payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and

unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

()

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax

loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are
not part of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,

unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

()

Income tax (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(d), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the property over time, rather than through sale. In all other
cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting

period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable

that sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

()

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current

tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation

authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

= different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis

or realise and settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the

obligation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(0)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised when the lessee has the right to use
the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Further details of the

Group’s revenue recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the

accounting period in which they are earned.

(i) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the

effective interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(@)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are

recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the Group
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was

measured.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are

incurred.

Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or the Group’s parent.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(s)

)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(v)

(vii

(viil)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in ().

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(t) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.

2 Changes in Accounting Policies
The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS and a number of amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting period of
the Group. Of these, the following developments are relevant to the
Group:

— HKFRS 16, Leases

— HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 23, Uncertainty over income tax
treatments

= Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 cycle

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the
Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented, except for an additional disclosure
in connection with the depreciation of the right-of-use assets in the
note 6(c), which previously formed part of the depreciation of other

properties, plant and equipment.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is
not yet effective for the current accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

3 Revenue 3 A
The principal activity of the Group is property investment. REENTEEKAMERSE -
Revenue represents gross rental income received and receivable from WA IEREMENE W WS I A L&
investment properties. ¥ o
The Group’s customer base is diversified and does not include K& %ﬁ%ﬁftﬁ’ﬂgﬁ%ﬁ” T HECE
any customers with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the ZEFRZT-NF=A=1+— EIJJ:EJ*
Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. KEE IEfHI X S5 E U A KB 8 10% & (£ 17
BE o
4  Segment Information 4 DEEFR
The Group has a single reportable segment which is “Property AEBRBEE —A#RESE 0 B[ MEMR
leasing”. Accordingly, the business segment information for this sole At EM—EBREDILHOEE DI
reportable segment is equivalent to the consolidated figures. BRI RS TR o
No separate geographical information is presented as the Group's ERAEEMERENRANERTRER
revenue and results of property leasing were derived from Hong Kong ERAEARLFB([HRE]) - S E
and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). P B 271 o
N3 s1v] r‘-
5 Other Revenue and Net Loss 5 HtRAKEEFEE
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
Other revenue Hi A
Interest income FE WA 13,220 10,473
Compensation from early termination of leases 2 R4% |- 70 & PS8 855 2,350 =
Others Efth 1,600 728
17,170 11,201
Other net loss HittgsEF5E
Net loss on disposals of fixed assets REETEEEBETE - @)
Net foreign exchange loss HNESBE 3 s 18 F R (2,668) 2,712
(2,668) (2,714)
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Notes to the Financial Statements BHi§ik &R Mz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

6 (Loss)/Profit Before Taxation 6 KRELRI(EE) 5F
BRBLAT (B1R), E M B (GEA) -

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fx Fit
(@) Finance costs (@) @B
Interest on bank loan IRITERF B 5,711 4,511
Other borrowing costs HAbfE R 731 250
Interest on government lease FERTEFHE RS
premiums payable 90 94
6,532 4,855
Staff costs BT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IEREMEN 46,035 44,319
Contributions to defined contribution RERFERIKRGT B
retirement plans 1,475 1,297
47,510 45,616
Other items Hibgg
Gross rental income from BREMENESWALEEE
investment properties (600,054) (622,729)
Less: Direct outgoings B B 92,167 87,239
(507,887) (535,490)
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN &
— audit services — ZER 1,321 1,286
— tax services — B R 204 94
— other services — H AR 374 365
Depreciation charge nEEHR
— owned properties, plant and equipment — BEYE  BEREE 4,325 4,534
— right-of-use assets — ERAEEE 17 29
Impairment losses on accounts receivable FEWER R B 18
(note 14(p)) (FizE14(0)) 1,168 304
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

7 Directors’ Emoluments 7 ESHME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the RIEEBCA BERFIYEE383 (1) M A B (H#
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies BESMEER) R OI)E280 5 M E =B
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as ST
follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary scheme 2020
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
& BER BIRGHE
0k BYRIE MEEAL 5 b
$000 $°000 $'000 $000 $000
T T T T T

Executive Directors HITESE

Cheong Hooi Hong SEIBIE 100 1,892 700 - 2,692
Cheong Kheng Lim $BIFHK 100 2,404* 700 - 3,204
Cheong Keng Hooi SEAmIE 100 1,601 300 - 2,001
Cheong Sim Lam SEELR 100 1,744 300 — 2,144
Cheong Chong Ling B 100 1,759¢ 120 24 2,003

Non-executive Director JEF{TEE

Sin Cho Chiu, Charles® 438 /3" 24 129 - - 153
Independent BAFHTES

Non-executive

Directors
Chow Wan Hoi, Paul BAES 340 - - - 340
Wong Yiu Tak =R 340 - - - 340
Tse Pang Yuen Bl 170 - - - 170

1,374 9,529 2,120 24 13,047

Annual Report 2019-2020 &%} 115



Notes to the Financial Statements BHi§ik &R Mz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

7 Directors’ Emoluments (continued) 7 EEMEw
Salaries,

allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary scheme 2019
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total

e EZRR RIREHE
E20e EWH= BYFETEAL HR k]
$000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T T

Executive Directors HITES

Cheong Hooi Hong R R 100 1,548 700 = 2,348
Cheong Kheng Lim SEIFMR 100 2,567* 700 = 3,367
Cheong Keng Hooi §EmE 100 1,574 300 = 1,974
Cheong Sim Lam fEpede] 100 1,845 300 = 2,245
Cheong Chong Ling B 100 1,449¢ 120 21 1,690

Non-executive Director JEZITES

Sin Cho Chiu, Charles’  #5EEZ" 100 550 = - 650
Independent BAFHTES
Non-executive
Directors
Chow Wan Hoi, Paul FE S 340 - — - 340
Wong Yiu Tak EHIRE 340 - - — 340
Tse Pang Yuen ST 170 - — — 170
1,450 9,533 2,120 21 13,124
* The amount excludes the benefits for the provision of a residential @ EHEIOEAEEMEERBEEEMEDN
property to Mr Cheong Kheng Lim with an estimated rental value of BH - AETHER 51,581,000 (ZF— 1
approximately $1,581,000 (2019: $1,581,000). 4 :1,581,0007T) °
# The amount excludes the benefits for the provision of a residential # EHBEIEAEIEL/ MBREREEMEDN
property to Miss Cheong Chong Ling with an estimated rental value of @A HEtHEEL A1,569,000T(ZFE—Hh
approximately $1,569,000 (2019: $1,569,000). £ :1,569,0007T) °
" The vacation of office of Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles as a director took " HEBAENEERMNECEE T -
effect on 26 June 2019. —NERNAZ T RARBEYR -

116 Tian Teck Land Limited XZ#EHR D



Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

8

Income Tax

Individuals with Highest Emoluments 8
The five highest paid individuals for 2020 and 2019 are all directors of

the Company whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7.

Taxation in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income represents:

=l

=

ReE AL

—ECTFER_E-NFFEANESME
MATHARRARINESE  HIMEEHIEHN
MIaE7 ©

FR&®

(@)

REBERREMEZEKAR
FRREVFEHIAS

2020 2019
$000 $’000
T T
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax AHEHIE — FERNEH
Provision for the year REEHIELERE 68,638 73,050
Over-provision in respect of prior years AR FEEERTE (60) (90)
68,578 72,960
Current tax — PRC REAFIIE — A
Provision for the year AREE T IALERE 193 139
Deferred tax EERIE
Changes in fair value of investment properties &Y A 1 BEHZH) (303) (319)
Origination and reversal of temporary T E R EE D
differences 9,366 8,434
9,063 8,115
77,834 81,214

The provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%

(2019: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year,

except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying

corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime. For

this subsidiary, the first $2,000,000 of assessable profits are

taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed

at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this

subsidiary was calculated at the same basis in 2019. PRC

taxation is calculated based on the applicable rate of taxation

in accordance with the relevant tax rules and regulations of the

PRC.

EEFEREBRIZAFERMET
JERFREFILA16.5% ( —F— L4 ¢
16.5%) MBI R & - HEAKE KB
AREFESHEMEF T ABEEKAR
BIBRIN o IR B BT BUE M B
2,000,0007T#28.25% i £51 & - 2T
O FERTRLE I IR 16.5% R KT H o
ZHB AR EBNEGREERR
ZE-NFHRNEEAE - R
AR EABRE 2 B AR T E A 6
BEETHE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements BHi§ik &R Mz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

9 Income Tax (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax
rates:

Fi18 a0

() FFig mﬁﬁﬁELﬁ?%é

HEr(B8R) (i

=yl OE )

2020 2019

$°000 $'000

Fr T

(Loss)/profit before taxation BrEiAT(E518), i F (838,644) 229,113
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation, 1% ABFEAR S ES HT
calculated at the rates applicable to profits  H3# FAf R 5+ E B 7 Al

in the countries concerned (F518), % %%ﬁﬁlﬁ (137,918) 38,335

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR AT TE R 217,806 47,945

Tax effect of non-taxable income DA RIS TRIER (1,994) (4,976)

Over-provision in prior years LA FEEEBF (60) (90)

Actual tax expense ERHIES T 77,834 81,214

(c) Current taxation in the consolidated

(©) #& MR R TRAAH

statement of financial position represents: FrEfi A .

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax REFHBNEGHERS
for the year 68,638 73,050
Provisional Profits Tax paid B EHFSH (55,152) (58,334)
13,486 14,716
PRC taxation IR 6 18
13,492 14,734

Representing: K&

Current tax recoverable ARERFEU RS (129) (33)
Current tax payable INERFE P 1S HS 13,621 14,767
13,492 14,734
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

9 Income Tax (continued)

(d)

(e

9 FMEH@

Deferred tax liabilities recognised: d) EERELHRIEAE :
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the CDHEEE BN RERAELERIE
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements BEMNHEKDMAEZEEHNT ¢
during the year are as follows:
Depreciation
allowances
Revaluation in excess of
of investment the related
properties depreciation Total
kel
REYHE HBITEN
E HERBE b
$’000 $’000 $°000
Fr Fr Fr
Deferred tax arising from: RETHEEN
EERIE :
At 1 April 2018 #2018F4 A1 H 1,006 71,184 72,190
(Credited)/charged to fEiges (T )40k
profit or loss (819) 8,434 8,115
At 31 March 2019 201943 HA31H 687 79,618 80,305
At 1 April 2019 720194 A1H 687 79,618 80,305
(Credited)/charged to ER=EF GTA),/ Hk
profit or loss (303) 9,366 9,063
At 31 March 2020 202053 H31H 384 88,984 89,368
Deferred tax assets not recognised: () RERWELERIBEERE :
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(n), BRI INFENEHEE - AR

the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of $145,881,000 (2019: $145,881,000)

as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which

the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax

jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not expire under

current tax legislation.

REEEE BB ANERNERR
BB ARARERBER T A HERE
AN &£ B 15 7k 56 145,881,000 0 (=&
— N4 : 145,881,0007T) B R5HEL 1
BIEEREEHELEHIBEE - BIE
WITHEE - EERBEIBTRERR
H o
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Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

10 Dividends 10 IRE
KEEENATIESRER
=

(@) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of (@
the Company attributable to the year

N

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Ft Tt
Interim dividend declared and paid of SA=N Y5 -AN]
$0.21 per share (2019: $0.22 per share) FEIR BB AR0.217T
(2019%F : §MR0.227T) 99,694 104,441
Final dividend proposed after the end of RiE B R & R R R
the reporting period of $0.10 per share DR AR HEIM S &ZH%0.107T
(2019: $0.22 per share) (2019% : §fR0.227T) 47,473 104,441
147,167 208,882

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the
reporting period.

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of (b)
the Company attributable to the previous
financial year, approved and paid during the

R IR AR 48 B IR 23 0 TR AR HA
B HAEREPRLERERARE

&

BERE-—HMBRFEERNSQF
RERR - WRAFEAE
RIS

year
2020 2019
$°000 $°000
Fr Tt
Final dividend in respect of the previous BRE—UBEE ¥R
financial year, approved and paid REEHAERZTH
during the year, of $0.22 per share RAERRR B & A%0.227T
(2019: $0.23 per share) (20194 : &[%0.237T) 104,441 109,188
11 (Loss)/Earnings Per Share — Basic and 11 SR(EE) BF — EXR
Diluted 3]
The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the loss BREN(EBE) BIRZBAFEEDN
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of $460,124,000 A I R FE 15 /&5 18 460,124,000 T
(2019: a profit of $73,669,000) and 474,731,824 (2019: 474,731,824) ZFT—NF  &mH73,669,0007T) &2
shares in issue during the year. There were no potential dilutive shares 1THY I (9 474,731,824 % (=T — N &F ¢
in existence in 2020 and 2019. 474,731,824 ) 518 - _E_ZBFR_-F

—NEA BB R HERL
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

12 Fixed Assets

(@)

=P
12 EEEE
(@)
Investment
properties Other properties, plant and equipment
Properties
held for
leasing
and capital Other Other
appreciation properties assets Sub-total Total
HER
FEXR
BEYE Hitz Hin&E et k]
$°000 $000 $°000 $000 $°000
Tr Tr FTr FTr FTr
Cost or valuation: A HE :
At 1 April 2019 201954 81H 13,859,790 101,824 36,432 138,256 13,998,046
Exchange adjustments [E 5 A% (2,660) - - - (2,660)
Additions b=y 2,781 - 992 992 3,773
Disposals RE - - (905) (905) (905)
Fair value adjustments NREERE (1,314,131) - - - (1,314,131)
At 31 March 2020 202063 A31H 12,545,780 101,824 36,519 138,343 12,684,123
Representing: KK :
Cost BAR - 101,824 36,519 138,343 138,343
Valuation — 2020 &1 — 20205 12,545,780 - - — 12,545,780
12,545,780 101,824 36,519 138,343 12,684,123
Accumulated ZIHE
depreciation:
At 1 April 2019 M2019F4 818 - 38,917 34,076 72,993 72,993
Charge for the year KEEHE — 3,521 821 4,342 4,342
Written back on disposals 2 B 5 # 2l - - (905) (905) (905)
At 31 March 2020 202063 A31H - 42,438 33,992 76,430 76,430
Net book value: REFE
At 31 March 2020 2020F3A31H 12,545,780 59,386 2,527 61,913 12,607,693
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

12 Fixed Assets (continued)

(@

12 BlEEE@)

(Continued) @ &
Investment
properties Other properties, plant and equipment
REME Hib % - BB K&
Properties
held for
leasing
and capital Other Other
appreciation properties assets Sub-total Total
HER
HFEX
EEME Hib# HAh & & NEt k]
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T Fr
Cost or valuation: B fHE
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4/1H 14,132,602 101,824 34,902 136,726 14,269,328
Exchange adjustments R (2,713) - - — 2,713)
Additions #E 371 - 1,614 1,614 1,985
Disposals RE = = (84) (84) (84)
Fair value adjustments NLBEAE (270,470) - - — (270,470)
At 31 March 2019 %2019F3A31H 13,859,790 101,824 36,432 138,256 13,998,046
Representing: K& :
Cost AR — 101,824 36,432 138,256 138,256
Valuation — 2019 {8 — 2019F 13,859,790 - - — 13,859,790
13,859,790 101,824 36,432 138,256 13,998,046
Accumulated REHTE
depreciation:
At 1 April 2018 R2018F481H — 35,398 33,113 68,511 68,511
Charge for the year REFHFE — 3,519 1,044 4,563 4,563
Written back on disposals & & A5 [0l - = (81) (81) (81)
At 31 March 2019 M2019%3A31H — 38,917 34,076 72,993 72,993
Net book value: REFE
At 31 March 2019 201993 A31H 13,859,790 62,907 2,356 65,263 13,925,053
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

12 Fixed Assets (continued)

Fair value measurement of investment
properties

At 31 March 2020, investment properties comprise ISQUARE

(b)

(excluding an office on 9th Floor), certain floors of Goodluck

Industrial Centre, certain units of Good Luck Industrial Building,

a floor of Euro Trade Centre and a floor of Yi An Plaza. Other

properties comprise an office on 9th Floor of ISQUARE, certain

units of an industrial property, a unit of a commercial property

and two residential properties in Hong Kong.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a
fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the

inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

= Level 1 valuations: fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at

the measurement date

— Level 2 valuations: fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which

market data are not available

= Level 3 valuations: fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs

12 BElEEE @

(b)

BE W%MQ;%E%E

R-ZFE_FF=-HA=1t—R80 " KE
%%E%EWF%(\ ERL LB
BPHAE)  FEIEFRLOHNETE
B HETXREMNSE TEA - B
BH5PON—BRERESHN—E -
HibEBBUNBENERESN
BOMAE  —EIEAENETE
7~ —EBEEYEN —EE LR mE
EEWE -

=

() REBEER
%%J$Elﬁﬁ¢%ﬁ
EHREEEEMGFEMNRE
%%A (EE - ZEWMESR
NE( BB BRE2RNE13
WIAABENEIREN=
BEAREBEEER AEEL2R
U TEEFEMFERNSE AR
MAERBEEMEZE - #m
BN EEFEBEMER
DB -

—  E—ERME: RERE
—BRBAE(E 8
BRERTSAERAE
S8 e R AT B EIRE)
KB AR BE

—  FERMGE:ER%E=
[E R N B (BIRES—
RO AT ERREAE) -
WARRIRFAE AR O #R
R ABERFEQAE
B - T BREABELE
RERTHIS SRR A E

- BZBAMLE: KAEX
E’]T\ /T\iﬁ“k’fﬁ;'éﬂ-l—i
NREBE
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Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

12 Fixed Assets (continued)
(b) Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

U

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

12 [&

None of the Group’s investment properties measured
at fair value are categorised into Level 1 and Level

2 valuations. The investment properties which are

NABEBRE)

AREEY EAKARARBEFE
MRENERREF - EBERAR
F_EBRMGEE HBEEEE=

categorised into Level 3 valuations are analysed as ERIGEMIREMESTAT
below:
2020 2019
$°000 $000
Fr T
Recurring fair value measurement RCEREFTEN
AREE
Investment properties categorised into AR F =B RIHER
Level 3 valuations: REWE -
— Commercial properties in Hong Kong  — (IR BRI R 2% 12,138,200 13,439,490
— Commercial properties in the PRC — AP EE 34,790 40,480
— Industrial properties in Hong Kong — R BB T 372,790 379,820
12,545,780 13,859,790

Tian Teck Land Limited XZE#thZEHR A T

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy

at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

12 Fixed Assets (continued) 12 BEEE®
(b) Fair value measurement of investment (b) ?ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ’ﬂ’&fﬁ@ﬁ% = (&)
properties (Continued)
(i) Valuation process iy fHERERF

The investment properties in Hong Kong and in the PRC
were revalued at 31 March 2020 by Vigers Appraisal and
Consulting Limited, an independent firm of professional
valuers who have among their staff Fellows of The Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the
location and category of properties being valued, on a
market value basis. Management has discussion with
the valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at each interim

and annual reporting date.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

The fair value of investment properties was determined
using income capitalisation approach which capitalised
the net rental income of the properties and taking into
account the occupancy rate and reversionary income
potential of properties after the expiry of the current

leases. The significant unobservable inputs are set out

R-_E-_ZEF=A=+—8"
MR EBMTEKZEENER
BB HEAEM — B
HEETHBERARAR(EE
ITHEABEBHEMBGER
CEZER  BYHWEGBZY
¥EmMENE RFTBERBILE
TR 24850 EITE RN - B
EREZ TERER - &
B EC E G EM RES T
%ﬂiﬁﬁiaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
(EEGIFS

FZERAAEBEFENE

AEBRBUREEREE - B
MENFHEHSWABERNE - I
ZRIMELEXRNEREH
HEmERELORESBANE
RN NBEREMENR
REE - EANTHERBA

below: BEYEHAT
Range of capitalisation rate Range of occupancy rate
EXfitRNEE HEENEE
Investment properties RENE 2020 2019 2020 2019
Commercial properties nHong Kong IR EBHIEENE 2.33%-5.00%  2.00%-5.00% 0%-87.2%  92.9%-100%
Commercial properties in the PRC R EREENE 6.75% 6.50% 78.3% 50.1%
Industrial properties in Hong Kong URBBNTENE 4.00%-450%  4.00% - 4.50% 0% -95.1% 100%
The fair value measurement of investment properties KEMEN AL BESEEAE
is positively correlated to the occupancy rate and MEXIELAR - BERER(
negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate. LA R L BB AR o
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Notes to the Financial Statements BHi§ik &R Mz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

12 Fixed Assets (continued)

(i)

12 BlEEE@)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment (b) BEWMHXNAABEFTZ@
properties (Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurement E=ZEBRAABETENE
(Continued) #BHE)
The movements during the year in the balance of these KEERNE=ZBRALBEL
Level 3 fair value measurement are as follows: SBEOEBINT
Commercial Commercial Industrial
properties properties properties
in Hong Kong in the PRC in Hong Kong
UREEH LR EH REER
[SEZ/ES [GE2/ES IEY=
$°000 $°000 $°000
Fr Fx Frx
At 1 April 2018 201854818 13,710,700 46,382 375,520
Exchange adjustments VE 3% — (2,713) —
Additions #HE 371 — —
Fair value adjustments RN BEAR (271,581) (3,189) 4,300
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3A31H 183,439,490 40,480 379,820
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4A1H 13,439,490 40,480 379,820
Exchange adjustments [E i A% - (2,660) -
Additions HE 2,676 - 105
Fair value adjustments NREBEAR (1,303,966) (3,030) (7,135)
At 31 March 2020 720203 A31H 12,138,200 34,790 372,790

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “net valuation losses on
investment properties” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. All the valuation changes recognised in profit or
loss for the year arise from the properties held at the end
of the reporting period. The valuation changes will only
affect the accounting profit or loss but not the cash flows

of the Group.

Tian Teck Land Limited XZE#thZEHR A T
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

12 Fixed Assets (continued)

12 BlEEE@)

(¢) The analysis of net book value of properties

is as follows:

(c) MEREFEMNDHAT :

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Frx Tt
In Hong Kong, with remaining RS FpHEERS
lease term of:
— not less than 50 years — R OHBE0F 153,417 162,838
— less than 50 years but not — DRB0OFETDI10FE
less than 10 years 12,416,959 13,719,379
Outside Hong Kong, with remaining ERBEIN - FIBHERS
lease term of:
— less than 50 years but not — DRB0FETDI10FE
less than 10 years 34,790 40,480
12,605,166 13,922,697

(d) Other assets comprise furniture, fixtures, equipment and motor

vehicles.

(e) At 31 March 2019, the net book value of right-of-use assets

arising from leases of office equipment of the Group was

$17,000.

(d) EwBEsEEM - £B  BHERAS
$o

() R-—T—hE=A=+—0 A£HE

NHEHENHAERENFERESE
EREFEA17,0007T °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

12 Fixed Assets (continued)

(f)

)

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
leases. The leases run for an initial period of two to ten years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which time
all terms are renegotiated. Certain leases include variable lease
payment terms that are based on the revenue of tenants.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate recognised as income in profit or loss during the year

ended 31 March 2020 were $6,244,000 (2019: $8,854,000).

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the

Group in future periods as follows:

12 BIEEE @

(f)

Zl»‘%@%“‘%%ﬁffﬁﬁ&é%%
FELHEERVNANMFEETF LB
BRERREYHRRES  ERAK

BRI EREE - BT HERRRER
WG E & AT B & 5 SRERA AR o

TEURR FE Bk b R R AT M E N 5
REE-_Z-_TE=-A=+—HIFE
B &= R HER AW A 56,244,000 7T
(ZZ—N%F : 8,854,0007T) °

AEBIREN RS BB FERA
R 48 & T E 12 R R BRI PR LAY R 4T 3R,
HENFBERT -

2020 2019

$000 $000

T T

Within 1 year 1R 430,641 423,028

After 1 year but within 2 years 118 E2FR 328,745 322,443

After 2 years but within 3 years 2F1ZE3F R 153,582 197,881

After 3 years but within 4 years 3FERBIFER 90,090 90,009

After 4 years but within 5 years 4F1ZESFER 56,609 82,433

After 5 years 5F1& 182,503 230,499

1,242,170 1,346,293

Pledge of assets () EEIEF

At the end of the reporting period, fixed assets with carrying RS EERER - RITEREUER

value of $12,043,834,000 (2019: $13,339,037,000) were

pledged to secure the bank loan (see note 20).

Tian Teck Land Limited XZE#thZEHR A T
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

13 Subsidiaries 13 B FE
The following list contains the particulars of all the subsidiaries of the TRINEAREEFREMBARFEE - BRAE
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. FIRRESN - IR ARG R R

Proportion of ownership interest

Ry didl]
Place of Group’s held
incorporation  Particulars of issued effective by the held by
Name of company and operation and paid up capital holding Company subsidiary Principal activity
MBS S R AEEY  HBARE HMELR
ARER REws BRTRARRAFE BERER =2 BE TEER
Associated International Hotels Limited  Hong Kong $360,000,000 divided into 50.01% 46.41% 3.6% Property investment and
360,000,000 shares investment holding
B EEBRAR Bk 360,000,000t A& MER BRI E R
360,000,000 (7
Sparkland Investments Limited Hong Kong $2 divided into 2 shares 100% 100% — Investment holding
EE 2R Rk REER
Harkam Limited Hong Kong $2 divided into 2 shares 100% = 100% Property and investment
holding
BERBERAA B 2R Rk RHEDEEREER
Metropolitan (International) Limited Hong Kong $8,000,000 divided into 100% 100% — Property investment
1,600,000 shares
B (BER) BRAR B 8,000,000t & MERE
1,600,000/ % {3
Associated International Resorts Limited  Hong Kong $20 divided into 2 shares 50.01% = 100% Inactive
EE 2075 A2k Ak (n NEE
Diamond Town Limited Hong Kong $200,000 divided into 50.01% = 100% Property investment
200,000 shares
WEBRAR Bk 200,0007T 43 £200,000% iz 7 MERE

Annual Report 2019-2020 &%} 129



Notes to the Financial Statements BHi§ik &R Mz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

13 Subsidiaries continued)
The following tables list out the summarised financial information
relating to Associated International Hotels Limited, the only subsidiary
of the Group which has material non-controlling interests. Total
ownership interest held by non-controlling interests was 49.99%. The
summarised financial information presented below represents the

amounts before any inter-company elimination.

(@ Summarised results

13 MIEB A B
TR EE S B B RR B 5B PR A B A B BT
BERBE - ZARRAEEE—HEEEX
PR RN E AR o JEFEARAIR IR ATk
miBE F49.99% ° TRES KBS E EHE
EREBRNACIEEITEEEIERTREEE

(@) XERE

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
F5 F5
Revenue 1 @N 588,560 610,587
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive ~ ZNEJE (E1E) S5 &
income for the year ZHERA LT (912,864) 148,485
(Loss)/profit for the year allocated to FE5E R AR SR 2 A
non-controlling interests REE(E8B),5H (456,354) 74,230
Dividends to non-controlling interests FIERBRERRE (203,365) (210,564)
(b) Summarised assets and liabilities b) EEREERE
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
T Ft
Non-current assets EREEE 12,257,237 13,564,010
Current assets BB E 528,248 550,988
12,785,485 14,114,998
Current liabilities nEBE (213,112 (232,211)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (289,470) (280,220
(502,582) (5612,431)
NET ASSETS BEFE 12,282,903 13,602,567
Non-controlling interests’ proportionate  3E32E A A% B RE 23 OB A BN
share of the subsidiary’s net assets BEFERELNE 6,140,405 6,800,124

130 Tian Teck Land Limited XZ#EHR D



Notes to the Financial Statements B R KK T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

13 Subsidiaries continued)
() Summarised cash flows

13 MIEB 2B
c) BERERE

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Net cash generated from operating RETEHFERNIREFRE
activities 305,289 413,755
Net cash generated from investing RERESENIRE R
activities 18,745 4,623
Net cash used in financing activities REEEFTRAMNIRES FE (413,456) (426,200)
Net cash flows WREMEFE (89,422) (7,922)

14 Accounts Receivable, Deposits and

14 BUWHRFR ~ ST & RFBIRK

Prepayments

2020 2019

$’000 $'000

F Fx

Accounts receivable FEUBR R 100,482 18,056
Less: Allowance for credit losses (note 14(0)) & : (= EEIEEE (MI5E14(0)) (2,140) (1,575)
98,342 16,481

Deposits and prepayments HEASSEEN 8,179 11,332
106,521 27,813
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

. 0 =+, A =+
14 Accounts Receivable, Deposits and 14 BEWERRX ~ s KT @)
Prepayments (continued)
(@) Ageing analysis (@ IREDT
The ageing analysis of accounts receivable (net of allowance RS KRR - BIEEEIEE
for credit losses) which was included in accounts receivable, F R RBNRANERER(E
deposits and prepayments as of the end of the reporting period B EEEEEE)NBRE DT ¢
is as follows:
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
Current (Note) AR HA(GE) 77,880 14,798
Less than 1 month past due BEA R 1{E A 8,644 1,606
1 to 3 months past due BHEA1 2 3@ A 10,134 65
More than 3 months but less than AR A3IE AR A 12{E A
12 months past due 1,684 12
Amounts past due [y cieliieat-t 20,462 1,683
98,342 16,481
Note: The amount includes the receivable for lease incentives of i EEEeEHEERMY RAMENEESN
$77,338,000 (2019: $10,946,000) which is not past due. The 7k 38 2 & Uk B8R 30 77,338,000 T (=&
movement in the said receivable during the year will only affect — A4 : 10,946,0007T) ° A FEURERFR
the accounting revenue but not the contractual cash flows of the NAFEZHREVEREET Y
Group. ERRA - MAGEHESHERER

Baart B2 80
SHERTE -

Debts are generally due on the 1st day of each month and 10 RE—RESAEBEE  EXER
to 14 days are allowed for settlement or else interest will be H—MA+RETIHX  @HgEK
charged. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out B - KAEBEEEBEREMFIBIIE
in note 24(a). R EE24() °
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14 Accounts Receivable, Deposits and
Prepayments (continued)

14 FEURBRFX »

HEEA S EENT )

(b) Impairment of accounts receivable (b) FEWERFURIE
The movement in the specific allowance for credit losses during AEEANEEEEY BEHm
the year is as follows: BN
2020 2019
$°000 $000
Fr Tt
At 1 April 2019/2018 #2019/2018%481R 1,575 1,575
Impairment losses recognised (note 6(c) = FERREE1E (MfFE6(c)) 1,168 304
Uncollectible amounts written off SRR NI B¢ (603) (304)
At 31 March MR3H31H 2,140 1,575
15 Pledged Bank Deposits 15 BB ITER
At 31 March 2020 and 2019, bank deposits were pledged to a R-E—TZER—"FE—HNhE=A=+—H
designated bank to secure the bank loan (see note 20). RITFEFERAEERT - UER—FRETRTT
RERTTE R (2B 3E20) ©
16 Cash and Cash Equivalents 16 IRENIBEEEY)

(@ Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a BERREEEVEE
2020 2019
$°000 $000
Fr Tt

Deposits with banks RITEHTER 446,256 512,160
Cash at bank and in hand RITFERRR® 34,042 54,485
480,298 566,645
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16 Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued) 16 WERBEEEY @)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) MEETBFMEENEEZYH
financing activities: BR :
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from TRHAVWNAEEREETHNELRNE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. EEE  THEERSRIEESE
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which B MEEYMELENAGIEZARG
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the PR &2 LA RKIRE N EHH
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from DENGRERERERNBME TS
financing activities. A e
Government
lease
Bank loan Lease premiums Interest
— secured liabilities payable payables Total
BITER 35
—FER HEEE BFLE EMFIS ot
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Tr T T T T
(Note 20) (Note 21) (Note 22)

(Fit&E20) (H2t) (ME22)

At 1 April 2019 R201954A18 200,000 17 1,857 183 202,057

Changes from financing BERERERS :

cash flows:
Capital element of lease ~ EREEREMERDS

rentals paid - (17 - - (17
Payment for government 2 [SEfF (B

lease premiums payable - - (66) - (66)
Interest paid on government 24 B fFHLER| &

lease premiums payable - - - (93) (93)
Interest paid on bank loan 2 HEITEZH & - - - (5,750) (5,750)
Other borrowing costs paid 2 E & Z A A - - - (730) (730)
Total changes from RERSRER

financing cash flows - (17 (66) (6,573) (6,656)
Other changes: Hih g
Interest on bank loan BITERHE - - - 51 5,711
Other borrowing costs HipERRAK - - - 731 731
Interest on government FER BT BT S

lease premiums payable - - - 90 90
Total other changes Hin2gmmE - - - 6,532 6,532
At 31 March 2020 R202063A31H 200,000 - 1,791 142 201,933
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16 Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued) 16 WERIAESLEEY @)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) MEETBFAMEENEEZYH
financing activities: (Continued) iR @
Government
lease
Bank loan Lease premiums Interest
— secured liabilities payable payables Total
RITER FEf
—BHER HEER BTH(E FERFIS B
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T Fr T T T
(Note 20) (Note 21) (Note 22)
(F¥7E20) (FizE21) (HizE22)
At 1 April 2018 R2018F481H 200,000 46 1,920 236 202,202
Changes from financing RERERERT :
cash flows:
Capital element of lease B RTAEHELMERZD
rentals paid - (29) = = (29)
Payment for government X (BB
lease premiums payable = = (83) - (63)
Interest paid on government 215 R BH &
lease premiums payable - = = (96) (96)
Interest paid on bank loan 2 HEITEZH & — = = (4,563) (4,563)
Other borrowing costs paid 2 &b & FRA AR - - = (249) (249)
Total changes from RERLRELELE
financing cash flows — (29 (63) (4,908) (5,000)
Other changes: Hih g
Interest on bank loan BITERFIE = = - 4,511 4,511
Other borrowing costs HA AR - - = 250 250
Interest on government FERBHER S
lease premiums payable — = = 94 94
Total other changes Hiwgems = = = 4,855 4,855
At 31 March 2019 R2019%3A31H 200,000 17 1,857 183 202,057
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17 Other Payables and Accruals 17

All of the other payables and accruals are expected to be settled

within one year.

18 Deposits Received 18
All of the deposits received are expected to be settled within one year
except for $129,347,000 (2019: $133,495,000) which is expected to

be settled after more than one year.

HtEA TR T E
B R 3k R AT — R
fit o

2WET£

B T 129,347,000 Tt ( = & — L F
133,495,0007T ) 5] @ IR HBiB—F1&
BN - FTE B WG S TBA R —FRES -

19 Provision for Long Service Payments 19 REIRKEES%ERH
$000
Fr
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4H1H 1,551
Provision made for the year NEEFHRER 196
At 31 March 2020 M202063A31H 1,747

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is obliged
to make lump sum payments on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances to employees who have completed at least five years
of services with the Group. The amount payable is dependent on
the employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement plan that is
attributable to contributions made by the Group. The Group does not

set aside any assets to fund any remaining obligations.
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20 Bank Loan - Secured

At 31 March 2020, the bank loan was repayable as follows:

20

fE SR — ﬁ %EE#
FEAT ¢

2020 2019

$°000 $'000

Fx Tt

After 1 year but within 2 years 118 1B2F R 200,000 —
After 2 years but within 5 years 2F £ (E5F A - 200,000
200,000 200,000

On 7 October 2013, the Company’s subsidiary, Associated
International Hotels Limited, entered into a facility agreement with
a bank for banking facilities of up to $300,000,000. On 30 August
2016, the subsidiary entered into a supplemental agreement with the
bank for extension of the facilities for three years to 8 October 2019.
In compliance with certain conditions, the facilities have been further
extended for two additional years to 8 October 2021. The banking
facilities were secured by a debenture incorporating a first fixed legal
charge over certain fixed assets (see note 12(g)) and a first floating
charge over certain bank deposits (see note 15). At 31 March 2020,
the outstanding bank loan was $200,000,000 (2019: $200,000,000).

The subsidiary’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfiiment
of covenants relating to certain of the subsidiary’s consolidated
statement of financial position ratios and maintenance of capital at
certain required levels. If the subsidiary were to breach the covenants,
the drawn down facilities would become payable on demand. The
Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants. As at

31 March 2020 and 2019, none of the covenants relating to drawn

down facilities had been breached.

R-ZTE—=F+A+A AARANHBEL
Al — SE B E AR A A S — R TET
3T — {734 £800,000,0007T K B E ek
RZB—A"ENA=1+AH  ZHBEAAHE
ZIITEI ML — DM - SR E HRE
R=FZ-T—-NFTANB - EFEE
FIEET  ZREHRCEE—PTERM
FEZT-—F+ANB - ZRTHER

—MEEETEEEE(2MHE12(g)
WE—BEEEEHERE TRITER(Z
BRI 3E15) M E —F B IR M EHIERIE
H-RZBEZEF=A=1+—H KEEN
#8178 X 5200,000,0007C (=T — L& :
200,000,0007T) °

ZEARMRITRERAERITREZMB A
BAE THRAMBARRAKR L R BB REER
BEEVA - WRMREAE —EMREKX
oo MEMB AR RZE R - BIRRR
HMEREEERINERRE - AEESEY
ERRAENAEERH R_T_FTFR
“E-NF=A=+—RH  ZMBARLE
EREMERREERBNRE -
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21 Lease Liabilities 21 HEEE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the TREVNWAKEER -_ZE—HLFE=A=+—H
Group’s lease liabilities at 31 March 2019 which previously classified as NHEEEENEESBARERE )M
finance leases: AR -
2019
Present Total
value of the minimum
minimum lease lease
payments payments
EHE EHEE
NFREERE KRR
$°000 $'000
T T
Within 1 year 1R 17 17
Less: Total future interest expense B B BT R gk =
Present value of lease liabilities HEBENRE 17
22 Government Lease Premiums Payable 22 FE{TBATiH(E
At 31 March 2020, the government lease premiums payable was RZZEZZTF=R=+—0 " EERFHE
repayable as follows: FEFHAT -
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
Within 1 year (amount included in 1FRN(BREEEMENRE
other payables and accruals) EETEBRAN) 69 66
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FBE2FRN 73 69
After 2 years but within 3 years 2F 1% {E3F N 77 73
After 3 years but within 4 years 3F&BAFR 80 7
After 4 years but within 5 years 4F1ZESFER 84 80
After 5 years 5F 1% 1,408 1,492
1,722 1,791
1,791 1,857
Interest on government lease premiums payable is chargeable at a FENETH B M B RIH R EESHBURBTE
fixed rate of 5% (2019: 5%) per annum on the outstanding balance. FESE(=ZZF—NF : 5FE);tH -
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23 Capital and Reserves

(@)

Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of

the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity

23

BERK#B

(@) fERAMBDWER
B A S 5 AN B 15
MEMRERNYER - FIWA A
ER2BE - AR ARFENEFKRE
BRI 2 AR RR B0 5 HO B D A5 31/ B

between the beginning and the end of the year are set out o
below:
The Company ViN/NC]|
Share Retained
capital earnings Total
;&S REBEA B
$°000 $’000 $°000
Fr Fr Fr
Balance at 1 April 2018 201854 A1 B H#ER 121,830 392,422 514,252
Profit and total comprehensive  ZN4F [ F &
income for the year 2HERALEE = 225,014 225,014
Dividends approved in respect of B _F—B R EE#E
the previous financial year o= — (109,188) (109,188)
Dividends declared in respect of BRI AR B FE SR
the current financial year O]9 = (104,441) (104,441)
Balance at 31 March 2019 and #2019%3H31H K
1 April 2019 201954 B1 B8 121,830 403,807 525,637
Profit and total comprehensive  ZN4E[E 5 F 2
income for the year 2HERALEEE - 185,337 185,337
Dividends approved in respect of B - — BB E # /&
the previous financial year Eolidst - (104,441) (104,441)
Dividends declared in respect of BRI AR B EE S K
the current financial year Eolidst - (99,694) (99,694)
Balance at 31 March 2020 202053 A 31 H YA ER 121,830 385,009 506,839
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23 Capital and Reserves (continued) 23 EAXRRFE@
(b) Share capital (b) B
2020 2019
Number of Number of

shares $°000 shares $'000

K& E Fx BB FiT
Issued and fully paid: ERITRARE

Shares &l 474,731,824 121,830 474,731,824 121,830

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance, the shares of the Company have no nominal value.

The holders of shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with

regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Nature and purpose of revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve represents hotel properties revaluation
surpluses and other properties revaluation surplus recognised
in prior years. The hotel has been redeveloped into iISQUARE.
Upon the retirement or disposal of the properties, any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to

retained earnings. The reserve is non-distributable.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated under the provisions of Part 6 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, was $100,267,000
(2019: $114,245,000). After the end of the reporting period,
the Directors proposed a final dividend of $0.10 per share
(2019: $0.22 per share), amounting to $47,473,000 (2019:
$104,441,000) (note 10). This dividend has not been

recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.
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RBEBCRREGIDF 365 - AR
AR W A (E -

BB ABREBRTEE IR K
B YA AEARRRAS LEHHE R
BDE—F - BRARBNFEBRE
B AR ERRSE -

B HENEEN RS

B4 BB R IR R B R T
MEBHRBREMNEEBRY -
REECERAERES o RENE
ESMMEE  CAABNEREAR
FHEGHEHEARDET  LhEE
RTADIEL °

A IR
RZZE-_ZEF=A=+—8 " RE
EBECARER ) E6HHRETED
AR TN RERR RO ER
%1 /4100,267,00070 ( Z & — L4 ¢
114,245,000 ) - EE R R EH
MRERE  Z@ o RKAREER
010t (ZF—N%F : §R0.227T) -
A 47,473,000 (ZF — N F -
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23 Capital and Reserves (continued)

(e)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for equity shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by leasing properties and
pricing services commensurately with the level of risk and by

securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
to maintain a balance between the higher member returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions. The Group’s overall strategy
remained unchanged during the years ended 31 March 2020
and 2019.

The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing its gearing
ratio and cash flow requirements, taking into account its future
financial obligations and commitments. For this purpose, the
Group defines gearing ratio as total bank loan over total equity
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. As
at 31 March 2020, the Group’s gearing ratio was 1.6% (2019:
1.4%) with bank deposits and cash exceeding total bank loan
of $283,254,000 (2019: $379,792,000).

23

B G @

(e

BEXxEE
AEBEREANTERNERER
SEFEKCEMEE N KMFES LA
YIS METE SRRk P AR O AR 7% (B
BARABIERABGREN T
HEDERRRTRER W AEM
HHBAALTHRMES

REBTHRANEREEEALHE
BREAEUARROETKEESE
B =M 8 B R - BB EE AR
AR ERARERG FE - WA
EREEBEREEMAEERGERE -
HEZZT-_ZFR-ZT—NF=A
=+—HLFE  AEEHEERE
HIFTE -

ANER B E BORR A S B R IR
&'%ﬂ$ﬁ§$ﬁ%%$&ﬁﬁ
FRRERHEERERE - stk
s AEERATEAABHER
IRITE R B AERE VB R &
A EREE RZTE_ZTF
ZA=+T—B AEENELEE
& E1.6%(ZT—NF 4%%
MIRTTFERERESBRIBITER
ﬁ%%wmmmﬂ:%fnir
379,792,0007T) °

M

Annual Report 2019-2020 3R

141



142

Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

24 Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in

the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage

these risks are described below.

(@ Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
accounts receivable, pledged bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposure to this credit risk is monitored on an ongoing

basis.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from pledged bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with sound
credit rating, for which the Group considers to have low credit

risk.

In respect of accounts receivable, individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Debts are generally due on the 1st day of
each month and 10 to 14 days are allowed for settlement or
else interest will be charged. Legal action will be taken against
past due debtors whenever the situation is appropriate. The
Group obtains deposits from customers (see note 18) as
collateral over accounts receivable to cover potential exposure
to credit risk. At 31 March 2020 and 2019, the expected
credit losses for accounts receivable were measured and loss

allowance was provided.
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24 Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values (Continued)

(@)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The
maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of
any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the statement of financial position after
deducting any impairment allowance. The Group does not
provide any other guarantees which would expose the Group

to credit risk.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivable are set

out in note 14.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and an adequate amount of committed banking facilities

to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can

be required to pay:

BERREER A REE @

(@)

EERE @)
AEETEEACERRERNE
R P EMEFERS - AL
SHEERR LR AIMEHRERE
B REENREDME(DMBHES
) o 7N S [ 3 fm 42 41 T BUA 42
BESRRNEFER

ERASERERERMELEEE
BBEAENEMES(CIFE - SR
BisE14 o

MREBEE R

REBNBEETE RER R MR
HRBESHER  URBEETER
RE - RER MRS HEE - [
R RTT AR R ANEERE - U
mREPANBRPNRBEST K

TRFVAKEZFITEEBAER
Wiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂmﬁ%é%ﬂ%%
CRERBREARFRASRE
( BENA ORI R EBRR
B HE B A X (g3 B ) s E A
,W%M&$E@ME$§HH%ﬁ
5II%R

%
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24 Financial Risk Management and Fair

Values (Continued)
b) Liquidity risk (continued)

R REER A EE @

(b) HRBEEERE@

2020

Total More than More than

contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 yearor less than less than More than
amount cash flows on demand 2years 5years 5years

CLLRiE] 16/, BEE 2o
BEE BeREEE  BERAN BoRE BARSE BR5E
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Tr T Tr Tr Tr T
Other payables and acoruals ~ EA B R IEH B 32,276 32,007 32,007 - - -
Depostts received EliTe 176,500 176,500 47,153 59,541 54,588 15,218
Bank loan - secured FITER— AR 200,000 208,667 5,700 202,967 - -

Government lease premiums  JERITTH(E
payable 1,722 2,542 - 159 4 1,906
410,498 420,006 85,150 262,667 55,065 17,124
2019

Total More than More than

contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
amount cash flows on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years

BRANR 13 Bl e P
BEE ReRELE  RERNR ER VA {5155 HiEoF
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T S S
Other payables and acoruals R R EE B R 30825 30,846 30,846 - - -
Deposis received Sl Ik 197,004 197,004 63,599 44,309 75,094 14,092
Lease abilties HERE 17 17 17 = = =
Bank loan - secured ROTEHR — FER 200,000 212,508 4971 4,957 202,580 -

Government lease premiums  [ERTEFTH(E

payable 1,791 2,701 - 169 47 2,065
429,727 443166 99,433 49,425 278,151 16,157

144 Tian Teck Land Limited XZ#EHR D



Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

24 Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values (Continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk primarily arises from bank loan.
The bank loan borrowed at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as

monitored by management is set out in (i) below.

(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile of the
Group’s borrowings with significant interest rate risk

exposure at the end of the reporting period:

24 BiEREERALEE @

2020

Effective

interest rate

(©)

e
AEENNXEBREZRERTE
Ko FRMRITEREREBEAR
REeEnENEER AEBEEES
EEM BRI T (P -

() FIEHR
TRAVRREHELER R
SEAEREEERMEERR
MBS TR

2019
Effective

interest rate

BERAE $000 BERA=E $'000
% Fx % Tt
Fixed rate borrowings: EB{&5K :
Government lease FERT AT (B
premiums payable 5.00 1,791 5.00 1,857
Variable rate borrowings: 22 &% :
Bank loan — secured RITER
— FE 2.85 200,000 2.48 200,000
Total ek 201,791 201,857
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24 Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values (Continued)
() Interest rate risk (Continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2020, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 (2019: 50) basis points in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would have increased/decreased the Group’s loss after
tax and decreased/increased the retained profits by
approximately $1,670,000 (2019: decreased/increased
the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately $835,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss after tax (2019: profit after
tax) (and retained profits) that would arise assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the
end of the reporting period. In respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate
non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end
of the reporting period, the impact on the Group’s loss
after tax (2019: profit after tax) (and retained profits) is
estimated as an annualised impact on interest expense
of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is

performed on the same basis for 2019.

(d) Currency risk
The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk as
substantially all of the Group’s transactions are denominated in

Hong Kong dollars.

(e) Fair values
All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially

different from their fair values as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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25

26

Employee Retirement Benefits

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administrated by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
$30,000. In addition to the mandatory contribution, the Group makes
voluntary contribution at 5% of the employees’ monthly relevant
income in excess of $30,000, subject to a maximum monthly income
of $40,000. Mandatory contributions to the plan vest immediately.
Prior to 1 July 2019, voluntary contributions to the plan vested at the
time the employees reached the retirement range, subject to certain
conditions. With effect from 1 July 2019, the voluntary contributions
to the plan vest on the scale based on the years of service of the
employees until full vesting after completing 10 years of service,
subject to certain conditions. The staff costs in respect of staff
employed by Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited
for building and property management of iISQUARE are reflected
in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

During the year, no forfeited contributions (2019: Nil) was utilised to
reduce the contributions payable for the year. No unutilised forfeited
contributions had yet to be applied by the Group at 31 March 2020
and 2019.

Commitments
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2020 not provided for

in the financial statements were as follows:

25

26

BEERAKER
REBIZBEBCGRHIMEATES S ERGIDE
RE - AREBEBRBEERNES SR
SERBIMEAE R EI([RERETE]) - %54
BT EIRABM N Z AT AT MK
RIREHE - BiBRERAE - EEMESR
17815 R B B A B RI5%[A 51 &I 1E 4
;o BE AMMEEA S LR A30,0007T °
Bros MRt RIN - AEEWIRREB L E 848
A 2.30,0007T FI5% 1EH B FEIE AL 18
&= S A AE40,000 T AR o MarE
EH BRI E R R B EERA - B
ZE-NFEA—BA - MEEELENERE
MER - EFEETRENELT - NMEE
FERRFROENTHEBREREESN - 8
—E-hFtA—BRR - mEEEENERE
MR EFEETHREOERT @ RiEE
BNRGFHmMENLAGERERERT - &
ERRBEFHETFRFZHEBERER
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Notes to the Financial Statements BHi§ik &R Mz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

27 Company-level Statement of Financial 27 R—E-_ZEF=HA=+—H
Position at 31 March 2020 £ R B EH I BARR &
2020 2019
Note $°000 $'000
BisE T Tt
Non-current assets FRBEE
Fixed assets EE&E
— Investment properties — B 315,440 320,260
Interest in subsidiaries NGz 2 175,769 180,105
491,209 500,365
Current assets RBEE
Accounts receivable, deposits and FEARERFR » 3] & RTEREK
prepayments 3,011 1,181
Current tax recoverable INERFEUS FT1SH: 129 29
Cash and cash equivalents BE MR EEY 55,410 53,566
58,550 54,776
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals HEMENAKRIETER 7,698 8,487
Deposits received BYGETE 2,482 2,874
10,180 11,361
Net current assets REBEERE 48,370 43,415
Total assets less current liabilites ~EEAERREAE 539,579 543,780
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary FEATHT B A )R8 31,504 16,954
Deferred tax liabilities BEBHIBEEE 1,236 1,189
32,740 18,143
NET ASSETS EEFE 506,839 525,637
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %l 7R )

27 Company-level Statement of Financial
Position at 31 March 2020 (continued)

271 RZE-FF=A=+—H
ERAEEBENM R T @)

2020 2019
Note $°000 $'000
BfsE Fr Tt

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARRRE 23
Share capital A&7 23(b) 121,830 121,830
Reserves (e 385,009 403,807
TOTAL EQUITY A 506,839 525,637

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

29 June 2020.
Cheong Hooi Hong Cheong Kheng Lim
Director Director

28 Immediate Parent and Ultimate Controlling
Party
At 31 March 2020, the Directors consider the immediate parent and
ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Tian Teck Investment
Holding Co., Limited, which is incorporated in Hong Kong. This entity

does not produce financial statements available for public use.

SERR-E-BEA A HABRRAELH

ATEH o
EF EF

28 HEMNRIMERELEZEER

EZgRA AEER_ZT_TF=H
=+ BN ERBRRRSRERT RES
REMKZNRERRAR - WRARRER
SRR AWM IEIREK -
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Notes to the Financial Staterments Bi§RK iz
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 43 ¥ %I 7R )

29 Possible Impact of Amendments, New 29
Standards and Interpretations Issued But
Not Yet Effective for the Year Ended
31 March 2020
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments and a new standard which are
not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2020 and which have
not been adopted in these financial statements. These developments

include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

CEAEREE-_ZS-FF
:H:+—E¢$Fﬁ$$
MEVEE] ~ FERMEER
AR E
%¢$Wﬁﬁ$%ﬁ5%'§%ﬁﬁ%@@

EEARBE-F-FA=A=T+-ALE
MR - T AN RS
TEERTAH—TRIRER) - ELEAIBLBET
SRR A BMIEE -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
EUTEBSz#
AN EHBER

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a business

(BBUBRELERDEIRERT EEHEE

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material
(CEAEFHEADE1RMEE] RKERB S ER|DESHMISET EAMEE ]

1 January 2020
20201 A1H

1 January 2020
2020F1A1H

The adoption of these amendments is unlikely to have a significant

impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Tian Teck Land Limited XZE#thZEHR A T
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Five Year Financial Summary

hFMBHE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B4 % %1 7R )

Results ES
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
T T T+ T Fr
Revenue 'ON 680,544 673,445 645,617 622,729 600,054
Profit/(loss) from operations RE X L{E
after valuation changes in B EjE KL
investment properties AL (EE) 968,983 (76,061) 276,376 233,968 (832,112
Finance costs & AR AN (2,458) (3,374) (3,140) (4,855) (6,532)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRBLAIRSFI, (E518) 966,525 (79,435) 273,236 229,113 (838,644)
Income tax Frigt (91,948) (90,721) (85,463) (81,214) (77,834)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERRN(EBER) 874,577 (170,156) 187,773 147,899 (916,478)
Attributable to: THIA L FEA :
— Equity shareholder of — NEEER R
the Company 438,966 (90,612) 108,126 73,669 (460,124)
— Non-controlling interests — FEIERR AR R A 435,611 (79,544) 79,647 74,230 (456,354)
874,577 (170,156) 187,773 147,899 (916,478)
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Five Year Financial Summary AFEBEHE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (45 % 5| 7R )

Assets and Liabilities EENEE

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

$'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Tt Fr FIt Tt Fr

Fixed assets FEE 15,086,623 14,449,891 14,200,817 13,925,053 12,607,693
Net current assets MENEEFE 105,886 345,610 355,882 363,384 365,760
15,192,509 14,795,501 14,556,609 14,288,437 12,973,453

Bank loan — secured IRITER — HiEH = (200,000) (200,000) (200,000)  (200,000)

Government lease premiums  FE BT HI(E

payable (1,980) (1,920) (1,857) (1,791) (1,722)
Lease liabilities HEAE (75) (46) n - -
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIE A F (56,756) (64,333) (72,190) (80,305) (89,368)
NET ASSETS BEEFE 15,133,698 14,529,202 14,282,635 14,006,341 12,682,363
Share capital f& 7S 121,830 121,830 121,830 121,830 121,830
Other reserves HEh A 7,643,585 7,334,597 7,224,347 7,084,387 6,420,128
7,765,415 7,456,427 7,346,177 7,206,217 6,541,958

Non-controlling interests FE IR IR R 7,368,283 7,072,775 6,936,458 6,800,124 6,140,405
TOTAL EQUITY ESEEE 15,133,698 14,529,202 14,282,635 14,006,341 12,682,363
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